
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Audit Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Monday 27 November 2023 at 7.00 pm 
 

Main Hall (1st Floor)- 3 Shortlands, Hammersmith, W6 8DA 
 

Watch the meeting live: youtube.com/hammersmithandfulham  
 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition/Independent 

Councillor Patrick Walsh (Chair) 
Councillor Florian Chevoppe-Verdier 
Councillor Ashok Patel 
 

Councillor Adrian Pascu-Tulbure 
Councillor David Morton 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Debbie Yau 

Committee Coordinator 
Corporate Services 
Email: Debbie.Yau@lbhf.gov.uk 
Web: www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees 
 

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend, but spaces are limited so please 
contact debbie.yau@lbhf.gov.uk if you’d like to attend. The building has disabled 
access. 
 

Date Issued: 
Date Updated: 

17 November 2023 
20 November 2023 

 

https://www.youtube.com/hammersmithandfulham
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees
mailto:debbie.yau@lbhf.gov.uk


Audit Committee 
Agenda 

 
Item  Pages 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Standards 
Committee. 
 

 

3.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  5 - 12 

 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting and to note any 
outstanding actions. 
 

 

4.   ANNUAL AUDIT REPORT (VALUE FOR MONEY) 2021/22 AND 
2022/23  

13 - 64 

 This report presents the external auditor’s Interim Annual Audit Report 
concerning the Council’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources (commonly known as “Value 
for Money” reporting). The report covers the financial years 2021/22 and 
2022/23. 
 

 

5.   EXTERNAL AUDITOR PROGRESS AND SECTOR UPDATE 65 - 79 

 The following is presented by the external auditor for discussion and 
noting: 
 

·External Audit Progress and Sector Update November 2023 

 



 

6.   TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY: MID-YEAR REVIEW 
2023/24  

80 - 87 

 This report provides an update on the implementation (six months to 
30 September 2023) of the 2023/24 Treasury Management Strategy, 
approved by Council on 23 February 2023 and presents the Treasury 
Management Strategy 2023/24 mid-year review.   

 

7.   HOUSING OMBUDSMAN COMPLAINT HANDLING CODE SELF 
ASSESSMENT  

88 - 116 

 Each year the Council is required to publish a self-assessment against 
the Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code and take it for 
discussion and approval at an appropriate governance board annually. 
 
The Council’s self-assessment was updated in September 2023 and is 
now coming to the Audit Committee for approval.   
 

 

8.   RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  117 - 131 

 The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Audit Committee 
with an update on risk management across the Council. 
 

 

9.   INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT (APRIL TO OCTOBER 
2023)  

132 - 139 

 This report summarises the status of work included in the 2023/24 
Internal Audit Plan as at the end of October 2023.  Two audits have 
been finalised, both of which received positive assurance opinions, with 
a further six audits at draft report stage.   
 
The status of audits confirmed for inclusion within the Plan, is shown in 
Appendix 2.   
 

 

10.   CORPORATE ANTI-FRAUD SERVICE HALF-YEAR REPORT  (1 
APRIL 2023 TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2023)  

140 - 154 

 This report provides an account of fraud-related activity during the first 
half of the financial year to minimise the risk of fraud, bribery and 
corruption occurring within and against the Council. 
 
For the period 1 April 2023 and 30 September 2023, the Council 
identified 235 positive outcomes. The fraud identified has a notional 
value of over £680,000. 
 

 

11.   AUDIT FEES 2023/24  155 - 159 

 This report provides an update on the external audit fees for 2023/24 as 
set by Public Sector Audit Appointments and the Council’s response to 
the recent consultation on the proposed framework for fees. 
 

 

12.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING   

 The next meeting will be held on: 
 

 11 March 2024 

 



 



Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Audit Committee 
Minutes 

 

Tuesday 12 September 2023 
 

 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Patrick Walsh (Chair), Paul Alexander, 
Florian Chevoppe-Verdier, Ashok Patel and Adrian Pascu-Tulbure 
 
Other Councillor: Councillor Rowan Ree (Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform) 
 
Officers: 
Sukvinder Kalsi (Strategic Director of Finance) 
Nicola Ellis (Strategic Director Chief Operating Officer, Corporate Services)  
David Hughes (Director of Audit, Fraud, Risk and Insurance) 
James Newman (Assistant Director – Finance) 
Chris Harris (Head of Finance) 
Moira Mackie (Head of Internal Audit) (attended remotely) 
Patrick Rowe (Strategic Finance Manager, Treasury and Pensions) 
Sophie Green (Treasury Manager) 
Jules Binney (Risk and Assurance Manager)   
Debbie Yau (Committee Coordinator) 
 
Guest: Andy Conlan (Grant Thornton) 
 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 
An apology for lateness was received from Councillor Ashok Patel (who entered the 
meeting at 7:20 pm) 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes and exempt minutes of the previous meeting held on 26 July 2023 were 
agreed as an accurate record. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

4. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2021/22, INCLUDING PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS 
AND ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND UPDATE ON 2020/21 
ACCOUNTS AND 2022/23 EXTERNAL AUDIT  
 
Sukvinder Kalsi (Strategic Director of Finance) introduced the 2021/22 Statement of 
Accounts (SOAs) of the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham (LBHF), 
including the Pension Fund Accounts and Annual Governance Statement for 
approval. 
 
Andy Conlan (Audit Senior Manager, Grant Thornton (GT)) briefed the Committee on 

the timeline and progress of the audits of the various accounts in 2020/21 and 
2021/22 and noted the 2021/22 audit was substantially completed more efficiently 
with the Council’s current Finance team. He then elaborated on the details of a main 
item remaining outstanding in the 2021/22 audit, i.e., the requirement for an updated 
triennial actuarial valuation of the net pension fund liability which was calculated by 
all local governments every three years. He further highlighted the adjustments and 
disclosure changes identified during the audit which were fewer than those found in 
the previous audit in 2020/21. The 2021/22 audit also made positive progress in the 
implementation of prior year recommendations.   
 
Andy Conlon anticipated that after he and Paul Dossett (Key Audit Partner, GT) 
completed the detailed audit review, they would be able to give an unqualified 
opinion to the LBHF’s 2021/22 SOAs, including the Pension Fund Accounts.  The 
Committee noted that the External Auditor had completed the field work for the Value 
for Money Auditor’s report for both 2020/21 and 2021/22 which, together with the 
signed SOAs, would be laid before the Full Council in November 2023.  
 
Members noted that the accounts were subject to changes until they were formally 
signed and in the event of any further changes, it was requested that these be 
approved by the Chair of the Committee, in consultation with the Director of Finance 
and any significant changes would be notified to Committee (page 14, para. 4).  In 
response to Councillor Florian Chevoppe-Verdier’s concern about the procedures 
involved, the Chair said that he would consult the Committee on significant changes 
before he signed the accounts.   
 

ACTION: The Chair/Sukvinder Kalsi 
 
Councillor Adrian Pascu-Tulbure asked about potential solutions to the issues that 
the External Auditor had in obtaining suitable analyses and populations of debtors 
and creditors and the need for more resources to complete the required testing 
(page 359). Andy Conlan clarified that whilst this was an issue identified in the 
2020/21 audit findings, the Council’s responses in this area were much improved for 
the 2021/22 process with no problems encountered.   Chris Harris (Head of Finance) 
added that it was caused by the legacy balances brought forward in debtors and 
creditors listings provided to audit and the management had undertaken 
housekeeping exercise to review legacy balances which would be carried out 
regularly going forward. 
 
Councillor Chevoppe-Verdier remarked that while the External Auditor had identified 
risk associated with Aviva Infrastructure in the Pension Fund Annual Report 2021/22, 

Page 6



Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

the Pension Fund Committee had already taken action to replace it. Separately, he 
appreciated the Council’s ability to deliver an underspend against the budget despite 
the increasing cost pressures due to the cost-of-living crisis, high inflation and 
interest rates.   
 
Echoing his appreciation, Councillor Rowan Ree (Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Reform) commended the hard work and contributions of the officers, in particular 
those in Finance and Pension teams, in finalising the 2021/22 SOA report.  Andy 
Conlan added that the External Auditor had worked well with both teams in areas 
such as sample testing and creditor/debtor listings which were carried out in a timely 
and efficient manner.   
 
Referring to the Government’s new proposed backstop publication dates for prior 
year accounts which remained open, Councillor Ree asked about the impact, if any, 
on the LBHF’s 2022/23 audit. Andy Conlan remarked that GT was looking forward to 
completing the LBHF’s 2022/23 and 2023/24 audits, having been appointed by the 
Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) to undertake LBHF’s audits for the next 
five-year period from 2023/24. He said that audit fees in the market were going up, 
enabling investments in the local government audit sector to strengthen and expedite 
the audit process more efficiently. GT planned to commence the 2022/23 audit in 
October with the field work done by December 2023. It was expected that the 
2022/23 audit report would be signed off before the end of the financial year, i.e. 
March 2024, provided that no major issues remained unresolved in the process. 
 
The Chair noted with concern that some contractors’ performance was below targets 
for Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) in some areas (page 140).  In response, 
Nicola Ellis (Strategic Director Chief Operating Officer, Corporate Services) 
highlighted that there was a significant improvement in housing repairs work and 
constant dialogues with the relevant contractors on their performance to meet the 
KPIs would continue. 
 
The Chair asked for the reason(s) for delivering the 2021/22 audit faster and better 
than the last one. Andy Conlan advised that for 2020/21, the pandemic and changes 
to working from home had disrupted the audit work as it usually took place on site, 
with face-to-face meetings held between the External Auditor and LBHF’s Finance 
team. Besides, there had been a prolonged shortage of trained auditors in the public 
sector and a lot of turnovers in the local governments’ finance teams.  The combined 
effect had contributed to the substantial delays in the delivery of the local 
governments’ audit findings for 2019/20 and 2020/21. Andy Conlan highlighted that 
with the adaptation to the current hybrid working, and the strengthening of GT’s Audit 
team and LBHF’s Finance team, GT was hence able to complete the 2021/22 audit 
more efficiently and effectively.  
 
In reply to the Chair’s question about the transfer of information between the 
External Auditor and LBHF, Andy Conlan noted that a digital Audit system called In-
flow had been in place for many years and information/files transferred electronically 
upon audit requests would be uploaded to the system.  He further advised that In-
flow was enhanced about a year ago which had enabled them to work remotely and 
bring further efficiency.    
  

Page 7



Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

RESOLVED 
 
That the Committee: 
 

1. approved the 2021/22 Annual Governance Statement which is included in the 
Statement of Accounts (Appendix 1).  

 
2. approved the Statement of Accounts for 2021/22, including the Pension Fund 

Accounts (Appendix 1).  
 

3. noted the content of the external auditor’s ‘Audit Findings Report’ (ISA260), 
including the auditor’s findings, recommendations and the Council’s response 
to those recommendations (Appendix 2).  

 
4. approved the 2021/22 management representation letters (Appendices 3 and 

4).  
 

5. approved the Pension Fund Annual Report 2021/22 (Appendix 5).  
 

6. noted that the accounts remain ‘unaudited’ until final sign-off by the external 
auditor.  

 
7. delegated authority to the Chair of the Audit Committee, in consultation with 

the Director of Finance to approve any further adjustments to Appendices 1, 
2, 3, 4 and 5 which may be required as part of the completion of the audit 
work.  

 
8. noted the supplementary updates on the conclusion of the audit of the 

2020/21 accounts and publication of the draft 2022/23 accounts and 
associated appendices. 

 
 

5. RISK ASSESSMENT AND AUDIT PLAN 2022/23  
 
Andy Conlan (Audit Senior Manager, GT) introduced the document which provided 
an overview of the planned scope and timing of the LBHF’s statutory audit and 
Pension Fund for those charged with governance. He highlighted the auditor 
reporting delays and the reasons outlined by National Audit Office (page 405), and 
the New Auditing Standards by International Standards Auditing (ISA) (UK), i.e. ISA 
315 and ISA 240 (page 409). 
 
Responding to the Chair’s question about value for money of the audit service in 
view of the proposed increase of the audit fee for 2022/23, David Hughes (Director of 
Audit, Fraud, Risk and Insurance) noted that the PSAA was responsible for the 
appointment of local government External Auditors and acceptance of the proposed 
audit fees. While competition might have driven down the fees, investment to 
enhance the quality of staff was also essential.  In comparing the audit fees for local 
governments and private companies, he considered that the audit service provided 
by GT, which was subject to external quality assurance review, was value for money.   
 

Page 8



Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

In this connection, Councillor Ashok Patel recalled that at the meeting held last year, 
he had requested to see the other bids for the contract but the information was not 
yet provided. Andy Conlan pointed out that while all audit fees were publicly 
available, they were not directly comparable because the scale set by PSAA for each 
body was different and each had its own historical basis.  The Chair urged officers to 
provide the information requested by Councillor Patel.   
 

 ACTION: Sukvinder Kalsi 
 
Replying Councillor Adrian Pascu-Tulbure’s enquiry about materiality and reputation, 
Andy Conlan noted that materiality was a broad concept used in financial statements 
to indicate significance in decision-making while reputational risk was less of an 
impact than materiality. It was related more to value for money. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Committee noted the Risk Assessment and Audit Plan 2022/23. 
 
 

6. TREASURY MANAGEMENT OUTTURN REPORT 2022/23  
 
Patrick Rowe (Strategic Finance Manager, Treasury and Pensions) presented the 
Council’s annual Treasury Management outturn for 2022/23, in accordance with the 
Council’s Treasury management practices. He highlighted that no new borrowing 
had been undertaken in the 2022/23 financial year. In view of current interest rates, it 
was prudent to consider the borrowing strategy carefully and utilise the Council’s 
cash balances as far as possible.  
 
Councillor Rowan Ree (Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform) expressed 
appreciation to the work of the Treasury team in taking no borrowing under a volatile 
market environment of 14 consecutive Bank Rate increases. 
 
Councillor Florian Chevoppe-Verdier asked about the Treasury Limits and Prudential 
Indicators.  Patrick Rowe responded that they were drawn up in accordance with 
CIPFA guidance and approved by Full Council.  Assessment was carried out on a 
quarterly basis to ensure that the Treasury function was operating within the limits 
set in the Treasury Management Strategy with reference to the Capital Strategy. 
 
The Chair asked if there would be an opportunity to re-negotiate for a better interest 
rate upon maturity of loans.  Patrick Rowe remarked that the treasury team would 
continue the strategy of utilising the cash balances to fund the capital programme as 
appropriate.  Among the broad range of borrowing options available, the authority 
could access competitive rate from the Public Works Loan Board.  For short-term 
borrowing opportunities, consideration would be given to taking multiple smaller 
deals over a period of 6 months with different durations to reduce maturity and 
interest rate risk.  
 
Referring to the recent S114 notice issued by Birmingham Council, Councillor Ashok 
Patel was concerned about the depletion of the Council’s cash balances, highlighting 
the importance of reserves for emergency situations.  Patrick Rowe noted that the 

Page 9



Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

Council’s current cash balance totalled £246 million and would be monitored in line 
with other strategic considerations. 
 
Replying to Councillor Adrian Pascu-Tulbure’s question on the optimal level of cash 
balances, Patrick Rowe suggested that this was subject to other strategic 
considerations at the time such as yields on investments relative to borrowing costs, 
and cashflow projections. He suggested that were balances to drop below a 
threshold of £50 million, officers would carefully consider the cashflow projections 
over the immediate term and consider taking new borrowing. In this regard, 
Councillor Ree reminded members that the purpose of Treasury was not serving 
hedge fund functions. It was prudent to ensure that the Reserve yielded appropriate 
returns with easily accessible cash when it was needed. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Committee noted the annual Treasury Management Outturn Report for 
2022/23. 
 

7. LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN ANNUAL REVIEW 
LETTER 22/23  
 
Nicola Ellis (Strategic Director Chief Operating Officer, Corporate Services) 
introduced the report on the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
(LGSCO) annual review letter 2022/23 which was received in July 2023. The letter 
provided a summary of the performance of LBHF from April 2022 to March 2023 
which had improved when compared to 2021/2022 and was in the top four when 
compared to all London Boroughs. She further noted that the LGSCO covered 
majority of council services excluding those under the purview of the Housing 
Ombudsman who usually published performance data annually in December.   
 
Noting that of the 28 requests investigated by the Ombudsman with decisions 
issued, 18 of them were upheld (representing 64%), the Chair asked about how were 
the lessons learnt. Nicola Ellis noted that after receiving the detailed decision from 
the Ombudsman, discussions were held among staff in the complaint handling and 
resident experience teams as well as those providing the service in question to see 
what individual learning could be taken away.  The management would generally 
focus more on decision findings with a view to initiating changes across the Council. 
 
Councillor Ashok Patel considered that 64% of cases being upheld was not 
impressive and even unacceptable from the commercial sector perspective. Nicola 
Ellis clarified that among all the services provided by the Council during the period of 
April 22 – Mar 23, the Ombudsman received 88 cases and 28 of them were 
investigated with decisions upheld for 18 cases. In reply to Councillor Patel’s further 
enquiry about referring unresolved cases for external review before they reached the 
Ombudsman, Nicola Ellis noted that the Council had followed the Ombudsman’s 
recommendation for local governments and implemented a 2-stage complaint 
handling process.  
 
Councillor Adrian Pascu-Tulbure noted with concern about the increasing trends on 
the number of full decisions made by the Ombudsman (10 in 2020/21, 17 in 2021/22, 

Page 10



Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

28 in 2022/23) and the number of decisions upheld (7 in 2020/21, 13 in 2021/22 and 
18 in 2022/23).  Nicola Ellis pointed out that the 2020/21 Decisions were lower as the 
Ombudsman had stopped accepting complaints for a period during the pandemic. 
For the same reason, there was a time delay in publishing the decisions. As regards 
the use of “disappointing” and “concerning” in the Ombudsman’s letter under “Your 
organisation’s performance” (page 442), Nicola Ellis noted that it referred to the 
same area of Housing service where improvements were happening at the moment. 
 
Councillor Florian Chevoppe-Verdier agreed that the Ombudsman’s letter had 
demonstrated that performance of Hammersmith and Fulham Council had improved 
when compared to 2021/2022 as the recovery from the pandemic entailed a lot of 
changes such as working from home and hybrid working.  Nonetheless, the LBHF 
was doing a much better job, with 20% less decisions upheld than its neighbours.   
 
In reply to Councillor Paul Alexander’s enquiry about the forecast for the number of 
cases going through investigations and decisions by the Ombudsman for 2022/23, 
Nicola Ellis believed that it would be around the same level as in this year.  On what 
could be the differences, she advised that many improvements had been made in 
respect of complaint handling for services across the Council, particularly for 
Housing services. Services aimed to resolve complaints early by directing them to 
the appropriate officers who would respond in a timely manner, avoiding the cases 
advancing to stage 2 and further to the Ombudsman. She agreed to provide 
information on the compensation awarded for the 18 upheld cases. 
 

ACTION: Nicola Ellis  
 
Councillor Alexander highlighted that there were different policies in respect of noise-
related environmental pollution and some of the noise complaints were handled by 
the Housing service.  Referring to complaints containing noise elements he came 
across in his casework, he observed that there was a lack of confidence in the 
Council among residents who might copy in the Ombudsman and/or Members of 
Parliament for written complaints. Nicola Ellis noted that noise complaints were dealt 
with by the Environmental Health and Public Protection and some were considered 
by the Housing Ombudsman if they were part of the landlord’s functions. In general, 
noise complaints had been identified by the Ombudsman as being an area where 
they received high levels of complaints across the country but it was not a major 
issue in the cases referred to the Ombudsman from this borough.  Noise complaints 
would be judged by the Ombudsman against the relevant policies prevailing at that 
time.  
 
Councillor Alexander remarked that the Environmental service might not be able to 
deal with complaints about noise and nuisance caused by Council home repairs.  In 
this regard, Nicola Ellis undertook to liaise between the Environment department and 
Housing services and would provide feedback after the meeting. 
 

ACTION: Nicola Ellis  
 
Noting that the LGSCO would work with the Housing Ombudsman Service to 
develop a joint complaint handling code that would provide a standard for 
organisations to work to, Councillor Chevoppe-Verdier asked about the timeline of 

Page 11



Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

consultation. Nicola Ellis said she expected that the consultation for the joint code to 
be held soon.  She advised that the Council had been carrying out self-assessment 
of the Housing Ombudsman’s complaint handling code as a basis for improvements. 
The Committee would be briefed in due course on the most recent self-assessment. 
 

ACTION: Nicola Ellis  
 
Councillor Rowan Ree (Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform) considered the 
Ombudsman’s Annual Letter a good review report in terms of the individual attention 
given to each case.  The information offered transformational insight and valuable 
opportunities to improve the Council’s approach to complaints.  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Committee noted the content of the LGSCO Annual Letter. 
 

8. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
The following dates of future meetings were noted:  
 

 27 November 2023  

 11 March 2024 
 
 

Meeting started: 7.02 pm 
Meeting ended: 8.16 pm 

 
 
Chair   

 
 
Contact officer Debbie Yau 

Committee Coordinator 
Corporate Services 
E-mail: Debbie.Yau@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 

   

Page 12



 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
Report to: Audit Committee 
 
Date:  27/11/2023 
 
Subject: Annual Audit Report (Value for Money) 2021/22 and 2022/23 
 
Report author: Christopher Harris, Head of Corporate Accountancy, Finance 

Systems and Tax  
 
 
Responsible Director: Sukvinder Kalsi, Director of Finance  
 

 

SUMMARY 
 

This report presents the external auditor’s Interim Annual Audit Report concerning 
the Council’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources (commonly known as “Value for Money” reporting). The report 
covers the financial years 2021/22 and 2022/23. 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

1. To note the contents of the “Interim Annual Auditor’s Report on Hammersmith 
and Fulham Council 2021/22 and 2022/23” from Grant Thornton LLP (being the 
Council’s external auditor) (Appendix 1). 
 

 

 

Wards Affected: All  
 
 

H&F Values 
 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F Values  

 Being ruthlessly 
financially 
efficient 

The Annual Audit Report is a key tool in demonstrating 
how the Council attains of value for money. 

 

Financial Impact 
 
This report presents the external auditor’s Value for Money assessment and is 
wholly of a financial nature. 
 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 

Legal Implications 
  
There are no direct legal implications in relation to this report. The External Auditor is 
required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to 
verify that the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
Name: Christopher Harris 
Position: Head of Corporate Accountancy, Systems and Tax 
Telephone: 020 8753 6440 
Email: Christopher.Harris@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Name: Angela Hogan 
Position: Chief Solicitor (Contracts and Procurement) 
Telephone: 07919227585 
Email: angela.hogan@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
None 
 

 

Interim Annual Audit Report 2021/22 and 2022/23 

 
1. The external auditor is required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 to verify that the Council has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources (commonly known as “value for money” of VFM arrangements). 

 
2. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office (NAO) requires 

the auditor to report to the Council commentary relating to those proper 
arrangements. 

 
3. The Council’s external auditor is Grant Thornton LLP. 
 
4. The attached report from Grant Thornton LLP presents both a summary and 

detailed analysis of their review of the Council’s VFM arrangements including 
key findings, recommendations and the Council’s response to those 
recommendations. 

 
  

Page 14



 

 

 
 

LIST OF APPENDICES: 

Appendix 1 – Interim Annual Auditor’s Report on Hammersmith and Fulham Council 
2021/22 and 2022/23. 
 

Page 15



P
age 16



Commercial in confidence

P
age 17



P
age 18



Commercial in confidence

P
age 19



Commercial in confidence

✓

✓

P
age 20



Commercial in confidence

P
age 21



Commercial in confidence

P
age 22



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

P
age 23



Commercial in confidence

•

•

P
age 24



Commercial in confidence

P
age 25



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 26



Commercial in confidence

P
age 27



Commercial in confidence

P
age 28



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

P
age 29



P
age 30



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 31



Commercial in confidence

P
age 32



Commercial in confidence

P
age 33



Commercial in confidence

P
age 34



Commercial in confidence

P
age 35



Commercial in confidence

P
age 36



Commercial in confidence

P
age 37



Commercial in confidence

P
age 38



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

P
age 39



Commercial in confidence

P
age 40



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 41



Commercial in confidence

P
age 42



Commercial in confidence

P
age 43



Commercial in confidence

P
age 44



Commercial in confidence

P
age 45



Commercial in confidence

P
age 46



Commercial in confidence

P
age 47



Commercial in confidence

P
age 48



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

P
age 49



Commercial in confidence

P
age 50



Commercial in confidence

P
age 51



Commercial in confidence

P
age 52



Commercial in confidence

P
age 53



Commercial in confidence

P
age 54



Commercial in confidence

P
age 55



Commercial in confidence

P
age 56



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

P
age 57



Commercial in confidence

P
age 58



P
age 59



Commercial in confidence

P
age 60



Commercial in confidence

P
age 61



Commercial in confidence

P
age 62



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 63



P
age 64



P
age 65

A
genda Item

 5



Commercial in confidence

P
age 66



Commercial in confidence

•

•

P
age 67

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/services/public-sector-services/


Commercial in confidence

P
age 68



Commercial in confidence

P
age 69



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

P
age 70

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/industries/public-sector/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/industries/public-sector/local-government/


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

P
age 71

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/insights/report-key-challenges-in-local-audit-accounting/
https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/insights/report-key-challenges-in-local-audit-accounting/


Commercial in confidence

P
age 72

https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/118580/pdf/


Commercial in confidence

P
age 73

https://www.publicfinance.co.uk/news/2022/12/backlogs-hinder-recovery-local-audit-performance
https://committees.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/118580/pdf/


Commercial in confidence

A 

P
age 74

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/40932/documents/199432/default/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/40932/documents/199432/default/


Commercial in confidence

P
age 75

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5803/cmselect/cmpubacc/995/report.html


Commercial in confidence

P
age 76

https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2023/09/04/new-guidance-on-raac-in-education-settings/
https://educationhub.blog.gov.uk/2023/09/04/new-guidance-on-raac-in-education-settings/
https://www.nao.org.uk/press-releases/condition-of-school-buildings-and-dfe-sustainability-overview/
https://www.nao.org.uk/press-releases/condition-of-school-buildings-and-dfe-sustainability-overview/


Commercial in confidence

     

P
age 77

https://www.hymans.co.uk/media/uploads/LGPS_2022_Valuation_-_the_big_picture.pdf?utm_source=press+release&utm_medium=press+release&utm_campaign=Valuations
https://www.hymans.co.uk/media/uploads/LGPS_2022_Valuation_-_the_big_picture.pdf?utm_source=press+release&utm_medium=press+release&utm_campaign=Valuations


Commercial in confidence

P
age 78

https://www.cipfa.org/protecting-place-and-planet/sustainability-reporting


Commercial in confidence

P
age 79

https://www.lgcplus.com/finance/exclusive-call-to-write-off-two-to-three-billion-send-deficit-26-10-2021/
https://www.lgcplus.com/services/children/unsustainable-send-services-cannot-continue-as-finance-probe-begins-24-06-2022/
https://www.lgcplus.com/services/children/exclusive-almost-two-thirds-of-send-services-expected-to-get-deficit-support-27-09-2022/


LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH and FULHAM 

 

Report to: Audit Committee 

Date:  27 November 2023 

 
Subject: Treasury Management Strategy: Mid-Year Review 2023/24 
 
Report author: Sophie Green, Treasury Manager 
  
Responsible Director: Sukvinder Kalsi, Director of Finance 
  

 
SUMMARY 
 
This report provides an update on the implementation (six months to 30 September 
2023) of the 2023/24 Treasury Management Strategy, approved by Council on 23 
February 2023 and presents the Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24 mid-year 
review.   

Treasury management comprises the management of the Council’s cash balances 
and borrowing to ensure that funding of the Council’s future capital programme is at 
optimal cost and investing surplus cash balances arising from the day-to-day 
financial operation of the Council to obtain an optimal return, while ensuring 
security of capital and liquidity. 

This report complies with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management, and 
covers the following: 

 a review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2023/24 to include the 
treasury position as at 30 September 2023; 

 a review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2023/24; 

 a review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for the first 
six months of 2023/24; 

 an economic update for the first part of the 2023/24 financial year. 

The Council’s Treasury and Pensions responsibilities are well managed (reflected 
in the recent national award) and some of the key highlights so far in 2023/24 are 
set out below:  

During the first six months of 2023/24, cash balances decreased marginally from 
£270.2m at 31 March 2023 to £241.8m at 30 September 2023 (partly reflecting 
property acquisitions and debt repayment). These funds were invested at 
competitive rates with average interest rate returns increasing from 4.02% to 
5.20%. 

The Council has also repaid some historic borrowing (£4.3m in total) and therefore 
external borrowing has reduced from £271.7m to £267.4m, with the average 
interest rate of all debt also reducing marginally from 3.76% to 3.72%. 

The Council has operated within the Treasury Limits and Prudential Indicators 

Page 80

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. The Committee is asked to note the Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24 
mid-year review. 

 

 

Wards Affected: None 
 

 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to 
the H&F Priorities  

Building shared prosperity Achieve best value for money in 
investment and borrowing decisions.  

Being ruthlessly financially efficient Effective management of the Council’s 
cash flow resources.  

Financial Impact  

  
This report is wholly of a financial nature. 
 

Legal Implications 

  
There are no legal implications in respect of this report.  
 

Contact Officers 

  
Name: Phil Triggs 
Position: Director of Treasury and Pensions 
Telephone: 0207 641 4136 
Email: ptriggs@westminster.gov.uk 
Verified by: Sukvinder Kalsi, Director of Finance  
 
Name: Jade Monroe 
Position: Chief Solicitor Social Care 
Telephone: 0208 753 2695 
Email: jade.monroe@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 

  

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

 Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement 2023/24 
 

Phil Triggs Tri-Borough 
Treasury and 
Pensions 

Page 81



 

 

 

DETAILED ANALYSIS 

Proposals and Analysis of Options  

Background and Treasury Position 

 
1. Treasury management in this context is defined as: 
 

“The management of the Council’s investments and cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the 
risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.” 

 
2. This treasury monitoring report covers: 

• the treasury position at 30 September 2023; 
• the borrowing strategy for 2023/24; 
• the borrowing position at 30 September 2023; 
• compliance with treasury limits and prudential indicators; 
• the investment strategy for 2023/24; and 
• the investment position at 30 September 2023. 

 
3. The Council’s debt, all held with the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), and 

investment positions at the beginning of 2023/24 and at the six-month point 
were as follows: 

 

  
31 March 
2023 (£m) 

Rate 
(%) 

30 September 
2023 (£m) 

Rate 
(%) 

General Fund (GF) 52.8 3.71 52.0 3.67 

Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) 218.9 3.77 

215.4 3.73 

Total Borrowing 271.7 3.76 267.4 3.72 

Total Cash Invested 270.2 4.02 241.8 5.20 

Net Cash Invested (1.5)   (25.6)   

 
4. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is responsible for servicing 80.6% of 

the Council’s external debt and the General Fund is responsible for the 
remaining 19.4%. 

 
5. The table below shows the split of investments by duration as at 30 

September 2023: 
 

Maturity Period Call (£m) Fixed (£m) MMF (£m) Total (£m) 

Liquidity 0.0 0.0 63.0 63.0 

< 1 Month 0.0 46.0 0.0 46.0 

1 – 3 Months 0.0 112.8 0.0 112.8 

3 – 6 Months 0.0 20.0 0.0 20.0 

6 – 12 Months 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total 0.0 178.8 63.0 241.8 

 
 

Page 82



 

 

6. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2023/24 was 
approved by Full Council on 23 February 2023. The TMSS has kept 
investments short-term and invested with highly rated or UK Government 
backed institutions, resulting in low returns compared with borrowing rates. 

 Treasury Borrowing 

 
7. £4.3m of borrowing has been repaid in the first half of 2023/24. Total 

borrowing therefore dropped from £271.7m to £267.4m and an average 
interest rate of 3.76% to 3.72%. All the Council’s loans are at a fixed rate of 
interest. The table below shows the debt profile as at 30 September 2023: 

 

 
  
8. In the first six months of 2023/24, the HRA PWLB debt of £215.4m remained 

below the HRA Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) of £358.0m, which 
generates internal borrowing of £142.6m.  This difference does not, as yet, 
exceed the value of HRA working balances. HRA reserves and working 
capital, in excess of internal borrowing, represent cash balances, on which 
interest is allocated from the general fund.  

 
9. As at 30 September 2023, the Council had an under-borrowed position. This 

means that the capital borrowing requirement was not fully funded by the 
existing external loan debt and the balance is funded by cash reserves 
(known as internal borrowing). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 83



 

 

Closing Capital Financing Requirement analysed between General Fund and 
Housing Revenue Account 

 31 Mar 
2023 
CFR 

 
£m 

31 Mar 
2023 

External 
Debt 

£m 

30 Sep 
2023 
CFR 

 
£m 

30 Sep 
2023 

External 
Debt 

£m 

GF (Excluding DSG funded 
Schools Windows borrowing) 

134.0 0.0 181.1 0.0 

GF (DSG funded Schools 
Windows borrowing) 

          55.4 0.0 89.0 0.0 

Total GF Headline CFR         189.4 0.0 270.1 0.0 

Finance leases/PFI           13.5 0.0 12.4 0.0 

Total Closing GF CFR 202.9 52.8 282.5 52.0 

HRA 300.6 0.0 358.0 0.0 

HRA CFR Total  300.6 218.9 358.0 215.4 

Total CFR/External Debt 503.5 271.7 640.5 267.4 

 Treasury Investments   

 
10. At 30 September 2023, a significant part of the Council’s treasury investment 

portfolio (£178.8m) was held in fixed term deposits with the Debt Management 
Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF), local authorities and banks. 

 
11. The TMSS allows investment in the following areas:  
 

• an unlimited investment limit with the UK Government (DMO) 
deposits, UK gilts, repos and treasury bills; 

• up to a maximum of £50m per counterparty in supra-national banks, 
European agencies and covered bonds debt on a buy to hold basis 
with maturity dates of up to five years, and the Greater London 
Authority (GLA) bonds for up to three years;  

• a limit of £30m to be invested with any UK Local Authority (subject to 
internal counterparty approval by the Director of Treasury and 
Pensions and Director of Finance); 

• no more than £45m to be invested with any individual Money Market 
Fund; 

• any financial instrument held with a UK bank limited to £70m 
depending on the credit rating and Government ownership above 
25% (limit of £50m);   

• any financial instrument held with a non-UK bank limited to £50m. 
 

12. The investments outstanding at 30 September 2023 amounted to £241.8m 
invested in short-term deposits. This compares with £270.2m short-term 
investments at 31 March 2023.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 84



 

 

13. The table below provides an analysis of the cash deposits, together with 
comparisons from financial year-end: 

 

 
14. During the first six months of 2023/24, cash balances varied between 

£242.5m and £281.6m, reflecting the timing of the Council’s income (council 
tax, national non-domestic rates, government grants and capital receipts, etc) 
and expenditure (precept payments, payroll costs, supplier payments and 
capital projects).  

 
15. The average return achieved on investments managed internally for the first 

six months was 5.20% compared with the average six-month SONIA rate of 
5.26%. Interest rates remained low throughout the period with the Council 
following a low-risk strategy and avoiding potentially higher returns which 
would increase counterparty risk. 

 Prudential Indicators 

 
16. During the year the Council operated within the Treasury Limits and 

Prudential Indicators set out in the TMSS approved by Council on 24 
February 2023. 

 
17. The table below provides a breakdown of the indicators and actual position for 

the year ending 30 September 2023: 
 

Indicator 2023/24 
Approved 

Limit 

2023/24 
 Actual at 30 

September 2023 

Indicator Met 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

£684m £641m Yes 

Authorised Limit for 
external debt1 

£650m 
£272m 

Yes 

Operational Debt 
Boundary2 

£705m Yes 

Capital Expenditure £203m £63m Yes 

                                            
1
 The Authorised Limit is the maximum requirement for borrowing taking into account maturing debt, 

capital programme financing requirements and the ability to borrow in advance of need for up to two 
years ahead. 
 
2
 The Operational Boundary is the expected normal upper requirement for borrowing in the year. 

 31 March 
2023 

£m 

30 September 
2023 

£m 

Liquid Deposits 0.0 0.0 

Money Market Funds 151.6 63.0 

Notice Accounts 0.0 0.0 

Custodian Held Assets 0.0 0.0 

Term Deposits  118.6 178.8 

Enhanced Cash Fund 0.0 0.0 

Total 270.2 241.8 

Page 85



 

 

Working capital balance £0m £0m Yes 

Limit on surplus funds 
invested for more than 364 
days 

£120m £0m Yes  

Maturity Structure of 
Borrowing 

Minimum Maximum Actual Indicator 
Met 

Under 12 Months 0% 15% 3% Yes 

12 Mths to within 24 Mths 0% 15% 3% Yes 

24 Mths to within 5 years 0% 60% 7% Yes 

5 years to within 10 years 0% 75% 16% Yes 

Over 10 years 0% 100% 71% Yes 

 

Indicator 2023/24 Forecast 2023/24 Actual at 30 
September 2023 

Ratio of financing costs to 
revenue stream 

GF (0.13%) 
HRA 6.18% 

GF 2.96% 
HRA 31.55% 

Ratio of commercial/service 
investment income to net 
revenue stream 

GF N/A 
HRA N/A 

GF 1.88% 
HRA 3.48% 

 
18. The variance for the ratio of financing costs to revenue stream is driven by 

changes to the prudential code means there is no longer a provision to include 
investment interest, which previously gave rise to the negative GF ratio. For the 
HRA, it is confirmed that depreciation costs would be included. There was no 
2023/24 forecast for ratio of commercial/service investment income to net 
revenue stream due this being a new requirement of the code.  

Reasons for Decision 

 
19. The Council’s treasury management activity is underpinned by the CIPFA’s 

Code of Practice on Treasury Management, which recommends that 
members are informed of treasury management activities at least twice a 
year. 
 

Equality Implications  

 
20. There are no direct negative implications for protected groups, under the 

Equality Act 2010, arising from the information presented in this report.  
  

Risk Management Implications 

  
21. The purpose of this report is to present the Council’s mid-year Treasury 

Management Report for 2023/24 in accordance with the Council’s treasury 
management practices. The Council regards the successful identification, 
monitoring and control of risk to be the prime criteria by which the 
effectiveness of its treasury management activities is measured.  

 

Page 86



 

 

22. Risk levels were set in accordance with the approved Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement (TMSS). The Council continues to recognise that effective 
treasury management provides support towards the achievement of its 
business and service objectives, specifically, being ruthlessly financially 
efficient.  

 
23. The identification, monitoring and control of risks are central to the 

achievement of the treasury objectives. Potential risks are identified, mitigated 
and monitored in accordance with treasury practice. It is also worthwhile in 
noting that this covers a period that included considerable uncertainty, both at 
national and global level, during the Covid-19 outbreak. 

  
24. Implications verified by: David Hughes, Director of Audit, Fraud, Risk and 

Insurance, tel. 07817 507 695 
 

Consultation 

 
None 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
None 

Page 87



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 
Report to:  Audit Committee  
 
Date:   27 November 2023  
 
Subject:  Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code Self Assessment  
 
Report Author: Kate Robertson, Interim Director of Resident Services, Corporate  
Services  
 
Responsible Director: Nicola Ellis, Strategic Director, Chief Operating Officer, 
Corporate Services  
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
1. Recommendation 

 
1. That the Audit Committee consider the Housing Ombudsman Complaint 

Handling Code Self-Assessment as set out in Appendix A 
 

 
Wards Affected:  All 
 
  
2. H&F Priorities 
  
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to 
the H&F Priorities  

Building shared prosperity Having effective systems in place to 
monitor feedback from residents 
enables opportunities to improve 
services for our residents’ benefit. 

Creating a compassionate council 
 

Understanding difficulties our residents 
face in dealing with our services where 
residents are experiencing their most 
difficult circumstances or have complex 
needs  

Doing things with residents, not to them 
 

Learning from our residents’ feedback 
enables us to ensure that we are 
delivering services that meet their 
needs.  

Being ruthlessly financially efficient 
 

Providing a service that meets residents 
needs provides value for money. 
Ensuring we learn from our mistakes 
and improve services accordingly is 
financially efficient.  

Page 88

Agenda Item 7



Taking pride in H&F 
 

Providing accessible and effective 
services to our residents and 
businesses makes Hammersmith and 
Fulham an attractive place to live work 
and do business in 

Rising to the challenge of the climate 
and ecological emergency 

A more efficient service increases the 
opportunity for digital delivery and better 
facilitates sustainable service delivery. 

  
3. Summary 

 
Each year the Council is required to publish a self-assessment against the Housing 
Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code and take it for discussion and approval at an 
appropriate governance board annually. 
 
The Council’s self-assessment was updated in September 2023 and is now coming 
to the Audit Committee for approval.   
 
4. The Complaint Handling Code 

The Housing Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code was introduced as part of the 
Ombudsman’s new powers in the revised Housing Ombudsman Scheme with taking 
effect from 1 April 2022.  Its sets out good practice to ensure social landlords 
response to complaints effectively and fairly and to use the learning from complaints 
to make service improvements. 

Key areas of the Code include: 

 definition of a complaint 
 providing easy access to the complaints procedure and ensuring residents are 

aware of it, including their right to access the Housing Ombudsman Service 
 the structure of the complaint's procedure - only 2 stages necessary and clear 

times set out for responses 
 ensuring fairness in complaint handling with a resident-focused process 
 taking action to put things right and appropriate remedies 
 creating a positive complaint handling culture through continuous learning and 

improvement 
 demonstrating learning in annual reports 
 annual self-assessment against the Code 

 
Social landlords must carry out an annual assessment against the Code to ensure 
their complaint handling remains in line with its requirements and publish the results.  
Non-compliance could result in the Ombudsman issuing complaint handling failure 
orders. Guidance on these orders has also been reviewed and updated. 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



5. Hammersmith and Fulham’s Self-Assessment 
 
Hammersmith and Fulham has prioritised and focused considerable resources on 
improving complaint handling, especially around Housing Services. 
 
The latest version is attached as Appendix A and sets out a positive picture of 
compliance with the code with some actions for further improvement.  This reflects 
the changes and investment that have been made this year in improving complaint 
handling and resolution. 
 
Over the past year, the Council’s Corporate Complaints Policy has been reviewed 
and updated to ensure compliance with best practice and whole organisational focus 
has gone into performance monitoring and management of all stages of complaints 
with improvements in timeliness and compliance. 
 
The central complaints function (Resident Experience Team) has strengthened 
operational grip, improved systems, processes and record keeping and a new 
dedicated Dispute Resolution Team has been established to co-ordinate all stage 2 
and Ombudsman complaints relating to repairs, covering both the investigation and 
overseeing the full resolution of outstanding works/orders.  This team is now 
beginning to take responsibility for stage 2 and Ombudsman complaints for wider 
housing services. 
 
Training has been rolled out across Housing Services on both effective complaint 
handling, wider customer service skills and the importance of understanding and 
recording additional needs or vulnerabilities.  External training for Complaint 
Handling will take place in the fourth quarter and will deliver a bespoke training 
course for all directorates linking to the new Joint Complaint Handling Code when it 
is published (expected early 2024). 
 
The Council has also now launched feedback surveys linked to complaint responses 
and the Resident Experience Team is beginning to explore root cause analysis and 
organisational learning themes. 
 
Work continues to improve core operational performance issues in Housing that are 
driving the volumes of complaints, in particular around repairs and the performance 
of contractors.   
 
The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman and the Housing Ombudsman 
have also launched a consultation on a new Joint Complaint Handling Code.  Whilst 
this does not fundamentally change the expectations on Housing Ombudsman 
cases, it would, if implemented, lead to significant changes to the wider Corporate 
Complaints Policy for those complaints under the LGSCO remit.  The Council is 
currently reviewing the proposed changes and drafting its response to the 
consultation. 
 
The annual performance report for Housing Ombudsman complaints will be going to 
Cabinet in early 2024 for discussion. 
 

Page 90



The Audit Committee is asked to consider the Council’s Self-Assessment attached 
as Appendix A. 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A – Hammersmith and Fulham Complaint Handling Code Self-Assessment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

Appendix A – Self-Assessment Form 
 

This self-assessment form should be completed by the complaints officer and discussed at the landlord’s governing body annually.  

Evidence should be included to support all statements with additional commentary, as necessary.  

Explanations must also be provided where a mandatory ‘must’ requirement is not met to set out the rationale for the alternative 

approach adopted and why this delivers a better outcome.  

Section 1 - Definition of a complaint 

Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 

Code 

section 

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations 

 1.2 A complaint must be defined as: 

 

‘An expression of dissatisfaction, however made, about the 

standard of service, actions, or lack of action by the 

organisation, its own staff, or those acting on its behalf, 

affecting an individual resident or group of residents. 

 YES Hammersmith and Fulham Council has a formal 
complaints policy which covers corporate complaints and 
complaints relating to Adult Social Care and Children’s 
Services. The complaints policy can be found here 
Corporate Complaints Policy for Adults’ Services, 
Children’s Services and Formal Corporate Complaints 
May 2020 (lbhf.gov.uk)   
  

The policy is reviewed every three years, or sooner if there 
is a relevant change. This was last reviewed in December 
2022 following our most recent self-assessment.  
  
The policy includes the following wording to define a 
complaint:  
  
 “An expression of dissatisfaction, however made, 
about the standard of service, actions, or lack of 
action by our organisation, our staff, or those acting 
on our behalf,  
affecting an individual resident or group of 
residents.”  
 

P
age 92

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/hf_corporate_complaints_policy.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/hf_corporate_complaints_policy.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/hf_corporate_complaints_policy.pdf


Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

A complaint submitted via a third party or representative 
will still be handled in line with our complaints policy. 
 
We will always manage expectations from the outset 
being clear where the desired outcome is unreasonable 
or unrealistic. 

 

1.3 The resident does not have to use the word ‘complaint’ for it 

to be treated as such. A complaint that is submitted via a 

third party or representative must still be handled in line with 

the landlord’s complaints policy. 

 YES Complaints are accepted as a formal complaint even if 
the word ‘complaint’ is not used. They can be made via 
all channels including verbally on a call, face to face, 

online, by email and in any written communication.  
(Complaints Policy, pages 16 &17 and Formal 
corporate complaints | LBHF (London Borough of 
Hammersmith & Fulham) (London Borough of 
Hammersmith & Fulham) (London Borough of 
Hammersmith & Fulham) )   

1.6 … if further enquiries are needed to resolve the matter, or if 

the resident requests it, the issue must be logged as a 

complaint.  

 YES We accept complaints from a third party and record this 
within the complaints handling system. These complaints 
are handled in the same way as complaints directly from 
a resident. (Complaints Policy, page 17)   
  
All complaints are logged via our case management 
system and assigned to an officer who will make further 
enquiries to investigate the complaint.  

 

1.7 A landlord must accept a complaint unless there is a valid 

reason not to do so. 

 YES Complaints are only refused by exception and for the 
reasons specified in the policy such as that the complaint 
is over 6 months old.  
 
We will always provide a detailed explanation setting out 
the reasons why the matter is not suitable for our 
complaints process and the right to escalate to the 
Housing  Ombudsman. 
  
(Complaints Policy, page 10). 
 

P
age 93

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/complaints-and-compliments/formal-corporate-complaints
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/complaints-and-compliments/formal-corporate-complaints
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/complaints-and-compliments/formal-corporate-complaints
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/complaints-and-compliments/formal-corporate-complaints
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/complaints-and-compliments/formal-corporate-complaints


Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

1.8 A complaints policy must clearly set out the circumstances in 

which a matter will not be considered, and these 

circumstances should be fair and reasonable to residents.  

 YES Our Complaints Policy details reasons that a complaint 
will not be considered. This includes where the complaint 
should be covered by another process (Complaints 
Policy, page 14 &15).  
 

1.9 If a landlord decides not to accept a complaint, a detailed 

explanation must be provided to the resident setting out the 

reasons why the matter is not suitable for the complaints 

process and the right to take that decision to the 

Ombudsman. 

 YES Where a complaint is refused the response to the 
resident gives the reasons why and will give details of the 
route to take this to the Ombudsman.  

 

 

Best practice ‘should’ requirements 

Code 

section  

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations  

1.4 Landlords should recognise the difference between a 

service request, where a resident may be unhappy with a 

situation that they wish to have rectified, and a complaint 

about the service they have/have not received. 

 YES A complaint could be identified by triaging a service 
request. An explanation of the difference between a 
service request and a complaint is included in our policy. 
(Complaints Policy, page 14)   

 

1.5 Survey feedback may not necessarily need to be treated as 

a complaint, though, where possible, the person completing 

the survey should be made aware of how they can pursue 

their dissatisfaction as a complaint if they wish to. 

 YES If a comment in a survey constituted a complaint, we 

would refer the resident to the complaints process or the 

relevant process.  

 

  

 
 
Section 2 - Accessibility and awareness 

Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 

Code 
section  

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations  

P
age 94



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

2.1 Landlords must make it easy for residents to complain by 
providing different channels through which residents can 
make a complaint such as in person, over the telephone, in 
writing, by email and digitally. While the Ombudsman 
recognises that it may not be feasible for a landlord to use 
all of the potential channels, there must be more than one 
route of access into the complaints system.  

 YES As mentioned, and evidenced in section one, the Council has 
a broad range of access channels available to make a 
complaint.  
  
This includes our ‘Contact us’ web page which allows 
customers to make a complaint in different ways. 

2.3 Landlords must make their complaint policy available in a 
clear and accessible format for all residents. This will detail 
the number of stages involved, what will happen at each 
stage and the timeframes for responding.  

 YES The policy is published on our website and can be made 
available in other formats if requested. The website itself can 
be translated into other languages and offers a read aloud 
facility which can be used while browsing the complaints web 
pages, but this does not apply to linked documents such as 
the policy.   
  
Our website includes a page with information on accessibility 
and information on how residents can get support with 
accessibility of our website and our services.  Accessibility 
statement | LBHF  
 

2.4 Landlord websites, if they exist, must include information on 
how to raise a complaint. The complaints policy and process 
must be easy to find on the website. 

 YES The website includes dedicated pages relating to complaints 
Complaints and compliments | LBHF   
 
This is accessible directly from our home page.  
 
LBHF | London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham | LBHF.   
 

2.5 Landlords must comply with the Equality Act 2010 and may 
need to adapt normal policies, procedures, or processes to 
accommodate an individual’s needs. Landlords must satisfy 
themselves that their policy sets out how they will respond 
to reasonable adjustments requests in line with the Equality 
Act and that complaints handlers have had appropriate 
training to deal with such requests. 

 YES In compliance with the Equalities Act, we adapt our 

procedures and policies to meet resident’s needs and put 
in place reasonable adjustments. We ask about specific 

needs/ requirements on our self-service request form. 

Contact centres that fill out this self-service request form 

over the phone on behalf of residents also capture these 
needs. The completion of this information then enables an 
alert to be generated on the system for officers viewing the 
case. Home visits are arranged through our Tenancy 
Management Team where required. Safeguarding 

P
age 95

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/accessibility-statement
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/accessibility-statement
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/complaints-and-compliments
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/


Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

processes are followed as appropriate and the Resident 
Experience Team liaise with relevant departments such as 

Adult Social Care and Children’s Services.   
  
All housing staff have been briefed through a guidance 
note issued in March 2023, reminding them to record 
housing vulnerabilities on the housing system (Northgate). 

The briefing also included guidance on   

• Learning from complaints and complaint 

escalation  

• Impact on residents’ wellbeing   

• Poor customer experience   

• Potential breach of equalities legislation  

• Impact on the Housing Revenue Account   
 

Staff delivering services and complaint handlers are 
reminded to check the relevant sections on the housing 
system to ensure services delivered consider any recorded 
vulnerabilities. In addition, consideration is given to the 
training needs of staff through complaint investigations and 
feedback.  
 
Other live projects delivering improvements to the way we 
record, use, and respond to residents with vulnerabilities 

include:  
  

• Knowing our Residents project meetings, which 
includes a focus on how we record and use 

vulnerability data.   
• Updating the Council’s Vulnerability Policy for 

housing concluded in August 2022, which includes 
reviewing the use of the terms vulnerability and 
vulnerable, process mapping resident journeys and 
the impact on the service offer for customers 
flagged as vulnerable. Processes relating to this 

P
age 96



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

are currently being reviewed again to ensure that 

they are in-line with best practice.   
• Reviewing where vulnerability information is 

flagged on the housing system, integration of data 
streams from Housing, Adult Social Care and 

Public Health.   
• Identifying the statutory policy and partnership 

working context for the use of vulnerable flags for 

example working with Adult Social Care.   
 

2.6 Landlords must publicise the complaints policy and process, 
the Complaint Handling Code and the Housing Ombudsman 
Scheme in leaflets, posters, newsletters, online and as part 
of regular correspondence with residents.  

 YES We publicise online on our website and through 

publications. We have developed a poster that gives 

details on how to make a complaint, how to contact the 

Ombudsman and details of the Complaint Handling Code. 

We are displaying the poster on noticeboards across the 

estates and have it on our online noticeboard on the Get 

involved Hub - Talk To Us – LBHF Get Involved  The 

engagement team is also taking the opportunity to 

cascade this information at various resident community 

events they attend.   

 

2.7 Landlords must provide residents with contact information 
for the Ombudsman as part of its regular correspondence 
with residents. 

 YES The complaints policy is included in acknowledgement 
letters/emails and formal responses, online and included in 
newsletters and other mailouts throughout the year. 
 

2.8 Landlords must provide early advice to residents regarding 
their right to access the Housing Ombudsman Service 
throughout their complaint, not only when the landlord’s 
complaints process is exhausted. 

 YES Information on the resident’s right to contact the 
Ombudsman service is provided throughout the resident’s 
complaint. Details are included in the acknowledgement to 
the complaint and in the templates for complaint 
responses. Officers are instructed to include this 
information in interim complaint correspondence, for 
example when contacting residents to advise on extended 
timescales.  
 

 
 

P
age 97

https://www.hfgetinvolved.org.uk/talk-to-us/


Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

Best practice ‘should’ requirements 

Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations 

2.2 Where a landlord has set up channels to communicate with 
its residents via social media, then it should expect to 
receive complaints via those channels. Policies should 
contain details of the steps that will be taken when a 
complaint is received via social media and how 
confidentiality and privacy will be maintained. 

 YES We do not promote social media as an effective 
mechanism to lodge complaints. However, we do get 
comments on social media that could be defined as 
complaints. If this happens the relevant details are passed 
to the service who will contact the resident directly to 
follow up. We do not engage in relation to specific cases 
via social media. This is referred to in our policy 
(Complaints Policy, page 17)  
 

Section 3 - Complaint handling personnel 

Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 

Code 

section 

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations 

3.1 Landlords must have a person or team assigned to take 

responsibility for complaint handling to ensure complaints 

receive the necessary attention, and that these are reported 

to the governing body. This Code will refer to that person or 

team as the “complaints officer.” 

 YES The Council has a central team, the Resident Experience 
Team, that coordinate and report on complaint responses 
across the Council. All complaints come into this team and 
are allocated to the relevant departments for response. 
The team is part of Resident Services and is independent 
from Housing. The Ombudsman Link Officer is also part of 
this team and coordinates responses to the Ombudsman 
from relevant departments. 
 
A dedicated team has been established in housing, called 
the Dispute Resolution Team.  This team work closely with 
the central Resident Experience Team to ensure 
complaints on housing matters are fully investigated and 
resolved and organisational learning captured.   
   

3.2 …the complaint handler appointed must have appropriate 

complaint handling skills and no conflicts of interest. 

 YES As mentioned above our structure ensures no conflict of 

interest. All complaint handling staff are required to 

complete the Ombudsman on-line training and all the 

Resident Experience Team and Dispute Resolution Team 

P
age 98



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

in Housing have completed this and provided their 

certificates to management. A training session was carried 

out at a Managers Forum in February 22 promoting this 

training so that managers across the Council can 

encourage their officers to attend in addition to dedicated 

complaints handling staff.  

 

Complaint handling is included in Corporate Induction 

training and Resident Experience Training across the 

Council. Further training and guidance for staff and 

managers is being developed and implementation will be 

aligned with the new joint complaint handling code and any 

amendments to our policy.    

   
 

Best practice ‘should’ requirements 

Code 

section 

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations 

3.3 

Complaint handlers should:  

• be able to act sensitively and fairly 

• be trained to handle complaints and deal with 
distressed and upset residents  

• have access to staff at all levels to facilitate quick 
resolution of complaints  

• have the authority and autonomy to act to resolve 
disputes quickly and fairly. 

  

 YES 

Recent training and quality assurance have supported 

improvement in this area. 

 

Section 4 - Complaint handling principles  

Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 

 

Code 

section 

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations 

P
age 99



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

4.1 

Any decision to try and resolve a concern must be taken in 

agreement with the resident and a landlord’s audit 

trail/records should be able to demonstrate this. Landlords 

must ensure that efforts to resolve a resident’s concerns do 

not obstruct access to the complaints procedure or result in 

any unreasonable delay. It is not appropriate to have extra 

named stages (such as ‘stage 0’ or ‘pre-complaint stage’) as 

this causes unnecessary confusion for residents. When a 

complaint is made, it must be acknowledged and logged at 

stage one of the complaints procedure within five days of 

receipt. 

 YES 

Our Complaint’s Policy does not include a stage 0 or 
pre-complaint stage. Our target for logging and 
acknowledging complaints is 2 working days and we are 
achieving this. We have completed analysis on this, and 
the majority are acknowledged on the same or next day.  

    
 

4.2 

Within the complaint acknowledgement, landlords must set 

out their understanding of the complaint and the outcomes 

the resident is seeking. If any aspect of the complaint is 

unclear, the resident must be asked for clarification and the 

full definition agreed between both parties. 

 YES 

We are including a summary of the complaint in our 

acknowledgements. Where complaints are unclear, the 

Resident Experience Team/Dispute Resolution Team will 

contact the complainant.  For all stage 2 complaints, the 

investigating officer makes contact with the complainant to 

discuss the complaint, communications preferences, and 

any outcomes they are seeking.   

4.6 
A complaint investigation must be conducted in an impartial 

manner. 
 YES 

As mentioned in section 3 complaints relating to Housing 

are investigated and responded to by dedicated teams 

either within the Housing service (Dispute Resolution 

Team) or outside (Resident Experience Team). This 

ensures independence from the service delivery teams. 

The changes to structure will maintain this impartiality.  

  

 

4.7 

The complaint handler must:  

• deal with complaints on their merits  

• act independently and have an open mind  

• take measures to address any actual or perceived 
conflict of interest 

• consider all information and evidence carefully  

• keep the complaint confidential as far as possible, with 
information only disclosed if necessary to properly 
investigate the matter. 

 YES 

Our case management system includes all details on each 

case at every stage and contains a full audit trail. We 

implemented a new system in June 2021 and migrated 

data over to this system. The new system enables much 

more comprehensive record keeping. There is permission-

based access structure and so confidentiality and security 

are maintained, and officers only have access to those 

cases relevant to their role.  

P
age 100



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

 

4.11 

Landlords must adhere to any reasonable arrangements 

agreed with residents in terms of frequency and method of 

communication 

 YES 

An area of improvement focus for us has been our 

communication with residents. To address this and to 

ensure that we are communicating with residents from the 

earliest possible stage, officers within Housing and within 

the Resident Experience Team are contacting residents by 

phone on receipt of their complaint (stage one and stage 

two), so they can ensure that they understand the reason 

for the resident’s complaint, communications preferences 

and what the resident requires in terms of resolution.  

  

We are working with residents to agree a feedback 

mechanism and frequency on receipt of the case. Officers 

have been instructed to record details of all communication 

with the resident and with other officers on the case 

management system.  

4.12 

The resident, and if applicable any staff member who is the 
subject of the complaint, must also be given a fair chance 
to:  

• set out their position 

• comment on any adverse findings before a final decision 
is made. 

 

 YES 

In addition to improving ongoing communication with our 

residents, we have also amended our complaint response 

templates to give the opportunity for the resident to come 

back to the complaint handler if they feel that anything has 

been missed or is inaccurate in the response without 

requiring them to escalate to the next stage.   

  

 

4.13 

A landlord must include in its complaints policy its 

timescales for a resident to request escalation of a 

complaint 

 YES 

Residents are given 20 working days to escalate 

complaints from stage one to stage two and this is referred 

to in our policy. (Complaints Policy, page 12)  

4.14 

A landlord must not unreasonably refuse to escalate a 

complaint through all stages of the complaints procedure 

and must have clear and valid reasons for taking that 

course of action. Reasons for declining to escalate a 

complaint must be clearly set out in a landlord’s complaints 

policy and must be the same as the reasons for not 

accepting a complaint. 

 YES 

There are very few cases where escalation is refused and 

if we do the resident is advised of the reason. Our 

Complaints Policy details reasons that a complaint will not 

be considered. This includes where the complaint should 

be covered by another process (Complaints Policy, page 

14 &15). 

P
age 101



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

4.15 

A full record must be kept of the complaint, any review, and 

the outcomes at each stage. This must include the original 

complaint and the date received, all correspondence with 

the resident, correspondence with other parties and any 

reports or surveys prepared.  

 YES 

Our case management system includes all details on each 

case at every stage and contains a full audit trail. We 

implemented a new system in June 2021 and migrated 

data over to this system. The new system enables much 

more comprehensive record keeping. 

 

All records of complaints are logged on our systems and 

original documents are files in our electronic document 

management systems. Any reviews, outcomes or other 

relevant correspondence relating to the complaints are 

also logged and recorded against the cases. 

 

4.18 

Landlords must have policies and procedures in place for 

managing unacceptable behaviour from residents and/or 

their representatives when pursuing a complaint.  

 YES 

We have a policy to deal with unacceptable behaviour 

from residents in pursuing complaints and this is published 

on our website. We use this policy when appropriate. 

Restrictions are time-limited and reviewed. We are 

currently reviewing the process supporting this policy to 

ensure that it links with policies in respect of employee and 

elected member health and safety. Hammersmith & 

Fulham Council Unreasonable or Vexatious Behaviour 

Policy April 2020 (lbhf.gov.uk)  

 

Best practice ‘should’ requirements 

Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations 

4.3 Landlords should manage residents’ expectations from the 
outset, being clear where a desired outcome is 
unreasonable or unrealistic 

 YES This would be addressed in the triage process when 
telephoning the resident and acknowledged in complaint 
responses. 
 
As part of our improvement process, we will aim to contact 
the resident within 2 working days of the complaint being 
logged to talk through the complaint and agree the desired 
outcome 

P
age 102

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/hf_vexatious_or_unreasonable_behaviour_policy_april_2020.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/hf_vexatious_or_unreasonable_behaviour_policy_april_2020.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/hf_vexatious_or_unreasonable_behaviour_policy_april_2020.pdf


Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

4.4 A complaint should be resolved at the earliest possible 
opportunity, having assessed what evidence is needed to 
fully consider the issues, what outcome would resolve the 
matter for the resident and whether there are any urgent 
actions required. 

 YES This is an area of focus for us and an area where we have 
delivered improvements. We aim to resolve the complaint 
at the earliest opportunity, and we have increased the 
number of complaints resolved at stage one and not 
escalating to stage two. We have experienced delays in 
response times in the past and we are addressing these 
and improving. We do have some complaints that take a 
long time to deliver full resolution due to the complexity of 
work involved but we are now closing these with an agreed 
schedule of work and monitoring this for delivery. 
  

4.5 Landlords should give residents the opportunity to have a 
representative deal with their complaint on their behalf, and 
to be represented or accompanied at any meeting with the 
landlord where this is reasonable.  

 YES Opportunity is available and we would ensure consent 
confirmed in writing and Power of Attorney provided if 
applicable  

4.8 Where a key issue of a complaint relates to the parties’ legal 
obligations landlords should clearly set out their 
understanding of the obligations of both parties. 

 YES We involve our Legal Team in such matters to ensure that 
this is covered 

4.9 Communication with the resident should not generally 
identify individual members of staff or contractors. 

 YES We have delivered this instruction to our teams and 
addressed in training and are monitoring as part of quality 
assurance to ensure compliance. 
 

4.10 Landlords should keep residents regularly updated about 
the progress of the investigation. 

 YES This has been an area of focus for us, and we are 
communicating regularly with our residents on complaints 
including sending holding responses and agreeing with 
residents when we need to extend the timescale in line 
with the code. 
 

4.16 Landlords should seek feedback from residents in relation to 
the landlord’s complaint handling as part of the drive to 
encourage a positive complaint and learning culture.  

Yes We have recently implemented in November 2023 
satisfaction and feedback surveys in relation to complaint 
handling for stage 1 and stage 2 complaints.  

4.17 Landlords should recognise the impact that being 
complained about can have on future service delivery. 
Landlords should ensure that staff are supported and 
engaged in the complaints process, including the learning 
that can be gained 

 YES Learning from complaints is a key focus for the Council 
and reasons from complaints are informing the Housing 
Improvement Plan. A wide group of staff from across the 
Council have been involved in supporting the service 
improvement and learning from complaints. 

P
age 103



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

 

4.19 Any restrictions placed on a resident’s contact due to 
unacceptable behaviour should be appropriate to their 
needs and should demonstrate regard for the provisions of 
the Equality Act 2010.   

 YES Comprehensive policy in place and restrictions are applied 
only where appropriate and reviewed regularly. 

Section 5 - Complaint stages 

Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 

Stage 1 

Code 
section  

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations  

5.1 Landlords must respond to the complaint within 10 
working days of the complaint being logged. Exceptionally, 
landlords may provide an explanation to the resident 
containing a clear timeframe for when the response will be 
received. This should not exceed a further 10 days without 
good reason.  

YES Following our self-assessment, completed in September 
2022, we amended the policy to reflect the requirements 
of the Complaint Handling Code and the timescale is now 
10 working days from receipt. This was amended in 
December, so it commenced from the start of quarter 
four. (Complaint Policy, page 11).  
  
As Housing Ombudsman determinations have identified, 
we have experienced delays with dealing with stage one 
complaints in respect of Repairs cases. This has been a 
key area of focus for us and at the end of July 91% of 
stage one complaints were responded to on time. Where 
a response could not be sent within the 10 days an 
extension of up to 10 days is applied but this is only 
where this is communicated with the resident. If a 
response cannot be determined within this period, then a 
further timescale will be agreed with the resident. As of 
the 1st October 2023 we have no stage 1 complaints 
overdue.  
 We monitor this extremely closely through our system 
and all Housing services receive a report daily to identify 

P
age 104



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

cases that are overdue or are becoming overdue.  Other 
services in the council receive this weekly.  
  
We report performance on the timeliness of complaint 
handling monthly to all services and their management 
and Strategic Directors and at the end of every quarter a 
report goes to our Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) 
Assurance meeting.   
 

5.5 A complaint response must be sent to the resident when the 
answer to the complaint is known, not when the outstanding 
actions required to address the issue, are completed. 
Outstanding actions must still be tracked and actioned 
expeditiously with regular updates provided to the resident.  

YES Responses to Repairs complaints are sent within the 
agreed timescales and we share a plan of action once it is 
agreed with the resident. We continue to monitor any 
outstanding actions with the case officer being the single 
point of contact.  
  

Stage 2 cases with works outstanding are monitored by a 
closed stage 2 team through to completion. Residents 
have a named contact in the closed stage 2 team and 
contact is made within 5 working days. All stage 2 repair 
works are signed off by a surveyor.  

5.6 Landlords must address all points raised in the complaint 
and provide clear reasons for any decisions, referencing the 
relevant policy, law, and good practice where appropriate. 

YES We have templates set up in our case management 
system that guide and prompt officers to ensure that all 
areas specified in the code are addressed.  
 
Stage one responses are reviewed by a senior officer 
before they are issued to ensure quality and to ensure that 
all the issues are addressed.  

5.8 Landlords must confirm the following in writing to the 
resident at the completion of stage one in clear, plain 
language:  

• the complaint stage  

• the decision on the complaint 

• the reasons for any decisions made 

• the details of any remedy offered to put things right 

• details of any outstanding actions 

• details of how to escalate the matter to stage two if the      
resident is not satisfied with the answer 

YES We have templates set up in our case management 
system that guide officers through each of the six stages to 
ensure that all areas specified in the code are addressed.  
 
Stage one responses are reviewed by a senior officer 
before they are issued to ensure quality and to ensure that 
all the issues are addressed. Feedback and regular 
training are now given to all officers.  
 

P
age 105



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

 

Stage 2 

Code 
section  

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations  

5.9 If all or part of the complaint is not resolved to the resident’s 
satisfaction at stage one, it must be progressed to stage two 
of the landlord’s procedure unless an exclusion ground now 
applies. In instances where a landlord declines to escalate a 
complaint it must clearly communicate in writing its reasons 
for not escalating as well as the resident’s right to approach 
the Ombudsman about its decision.  

 YES If we refuse escalation to stage two, we clearly 
communicate the reasons that the exclusion ground 
applies when we decline to escalate the complaint. There 
are very few that are excluded. We include the Housing 
Ombudsman details in the refusal letter. 

5.10 On receipt of the escalation request, landlords must set out 
their understanding of issues outstanding and the outcomes 
the resident is seeking. If any aspect of the complaint is 
unclear, the resident must be asked for clarification and the 
full definition agreed between both parties.  

 YES  Our acknowledgement of all stage 2 complaints includes a 
summary of the issues and outcomes they are seeking.  
All stage 2 escalations are contacted by phone so that the 
scope of the complaint, communications preferences and 
the outcomes sought can be clarified. 

5.11 Landlords must only escalate a complaint to stage two once 
it has completed stage one and at the request of the 
resident. 

 YES The resident is given the opportunity to escalate following 
the response to the stage one complaint 

5.12 The person considering the complaint at stage two, must 
not be the same person that considered the complaint at 
stage one. 

 YES Stage two complaints are dealt with by a different officer 
than stage one complaints. These have been dealt with by 
our Resident Experience Team previously, but we are 
currently amending the structure for complaints handling 
and the stage two complaints will be dealt with in the 
service to enable less double handling and more capacity 
to ensure the complaint and associated repairs are 
managed closely until the resident is completely satisfied. 
Stage two complaints will still be dealt with by a separate 
team to the service delivery teams to maintain 
independence.  

P
age 106



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

5.13 Landlords must respond to the stage two complaint within 
20 working days of the complaint being escalated. 
Exceptionally, landlords may provide an explanation to the 
resident containing a clear timeframe for when the response 
will be received. This should not exceed a further 10 days 
without good reason.  

 YES Our complaints policy gives a timescale of 20 working 
days to respond to a stage two complaint. (Complaint 
Policy, page 11).  
  
We monitor response timescales extremely closely 
through our system and all Housing services receive a 
report daily to identify cases that are overdue or are 
becoming overdue.  Other services in the council receive 
this weekly.  

 
We have set up a Housing Dispute Resolution Team and 
our process is designed to resolve complaints within the 
relevant timescales.  
  
As with stage one complaints, we report performance on 
the timeliness of complaint handling monthly to all 
services and their management and Strategic Directors 
and at the end of every quarter a report goes to our 
Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) Assurance meeting.    
 

5.16 Landlords must confirm the following in writing to the 
resident at the completion of stage two in clear, plain 
language:  
 

• the complaint stage  

• the complaint definition 

• the decision on the complaint 

• the reasons for any decisions made 

• the details of any remedy offered to put things right 

• details of any outstanding actions 
and  

• if the landlord has a third stage, details of how to 
escalate the matter to stage three  

• if this was the final stage, details of how to escalate the 
matter to the Housing Ombudsman Service if the 
resident remains dissatisfied.  

 YES Our system has a template for stage 2 complaints, and this 
includes all areas required as specified in the code. This 
prompts officers to include the relevant information. All 
stage two response are checked for quality assurance 
prior to issuing. 

 

P
age 107



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

Stage 3 

Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations  

5.17 Two stage landlord complaint procedures are ideal. This 
ensures that the complaint process is not unduly long. If 
landlords strongly believe a third stage is necessary, they 
must set out their reasons for this as part of their self-
assessment. A process with more than three stages is not 
acceptable under any circumstances. 

 YES We do not have a third stage to our complaints process 

5.20 Landlords must confirm the following in writing to the 
resident at the completion of stage three in clear, plain 
language:  

• the complaint stage  

• the complaint definition  

• the decision on the complaint 

• the reasons for any decisions made 

• the details of any remedy offered to put things right 

• details of any outstanding actions 

• details of how to escalate the matter to the Housing 
Ombudsman Service if the resident remains 
dissatisfied  

 N/A Not applicable 

 

Best practice ‘should’ requirements 

Stage 1  

Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations  

5.2 If an extension beyond 20 working days is required to 
enable the landlord to respond to the complaint fully, this 
should be agreed by both parties.  

 YES For any cases where we are unable to resolve within 10 
working days or a subsequent 10-day extension, we are in 
communication with the resident to agree the timescales 
and to keep them updated on actions taken 

P
age 108



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

5.3 Where agreement over an extension period cannot be 
reached, landlords should provide the Housing 
Ombudsman’s contact details so the resident can challenge 
the landlord’s plan for responding and/or the proposed 
timeliness of a landlord’s response. 

 YES Where agreement cannot be reached, we will provide the 
Housing Ombudsman contact details so the resident can 
challenge our plan and proposed timescales. 
 

5.4 Where the problem is a recurring issue, the landlord should 
consider any older reports as part of the background to the 
complaint if this will help to resolve the issue for the 
resident. 

 YES The housing and complaints team will always look to see 
what historical and relevant information is on the system to 
identify if it is a repeat problem and include this in the case 
file if it will help to resolve the case. 

5.7 Where residents raise additional complaints during the 
investigation, these should be incorporated into the stage 
one response if they are relevant, and the stage one 
response has not been issued. Where the stage one 
response has been issued, or it would unreasonably delay 
the response, the complaint should be logged as a new 
complaint. 

YES As part of our procedures - we will always look to be 
efficient in providing response to complaints by aligning 
and bringing together all related complaints into a one 
comprehensive response. Where this is not possible and 
will cause significant delay – a new complaint will be 
logged  

 
 

Stage 2 
Code 
section  

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations  

5.14 If an extension beyond 10 working days is required to 
enable the landlord to respond to the complaint fully, this 
should be agreed by both parties.  

 YES For any cases where we are unable to resolve within 10 
working days or a subsequent 10-day extension, we are in 
communication with the resident to agree the timescales 
and to keep them updated on actions taken 

5.15 Where agreement over an extension period cannot be 
reached, landlords should provide the Housing 
Ombudsman’s contact details so the resident can challenge 
the landlord’s plan for responding and/or the proposed 
timeliness of a landlord’s response 

 YES Housing Ombudsman contact details are provided in all 
letters about complaints 

 

Stage 3  

Code 
section  

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations  

P
age 109



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

5.18 Complaints should only go to a third stage if the resident 
has actively requested a third stage review of their 
complaint. Where a third stage is in place and has been 
requested, landlords must respond to the stage three 
complaint within 20 working days of the complaint being 
escalated. Additional time will only be justified if related to 
convening a panel. An explanation and a date for when the 
stage three response will be received should be provided to 
the resident.  

YES We do not have a third stage.  
 
The Dispute, Support and Resolution Team are able to 
review closed cases at stage 2. This ensures that cases 
closed with a resolution being tracked can have a review 
on the current position and resolution where appropriate. 

5.19 Where agreement over an extension period cannot be 
reached, landlords should provide the Housing 
Ombudsman’s contact details so the resident can challenge 
the landlord’s plan for responding and/or the proposed 
timeliness of a landlord’s response. 

 YES Housing Ombudsman contact details are provided in all 
letters about complaints. 
 

 

Section 6 - Putting things right  

Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 

Code 
section  

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations  

6.1 Effective dispute resolution requires a process designed to 
resolve complaints. Where something has gone wrong a 
landlord must acknowledge this and set out the actions it 
has already taken, or intends to take, to put things right. 

YES We have set up a Dispute Resolution Team and our 
process is designed to resolve complaints. Where we get 
things wrong, we do apologise, often face to face, and 
offer compensation and seek to quickly rectify the issues 
working with the resident to agree outcomes. The team 
then track that through to completion  

6.2 Any remedy offered must reflect the extent of any service 
failures and the level of detriment caused to the resident as 
a result. A landlord must carefully manage the expectations 
of residents and not promise anything that cannot be 
delivered or would cause unfairness to other residents. 

YES We have guidelines in place on compensation and 
remedies following Ombudsman recommendations. We 
also cover this in training and use responsibilities under 
the tenancy agreement as a guide. 

6.5 The remedy offer must clearly set out what will happen and 
by when, in agreement with the resident where appropriate. 
Any remedy proposed must be followed through to 
completion. 

YES In most cases complaints are in respect of repairs and 
our responses will include appointments or in some 
cases a schedule of works which will give details of 
timescales. We have made significant improvements in 
following up on repairs after closure of the stage two 
complaints. In February 2023 we created a new team to 

P
age 110



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

do this. When a complaint is closed, it is passed to this 
team and the resident is advised that an officer will 
contact them in five working days. The resident then 
receives a call from their point of contact and this 
person monitors the repair position and maintains 
regular contact with the resident and the contractor to 
ensure completion. On completion of the repair a 
surveyor who is linked to this new team will carry out a 
post repair inspection so we can be sure that everything 
has been concluded and the resident is fully satisfied. 
This approach is having a positive impact and will 
deliver improvements for our residents.   
  
.  

6.6 In awarding compensation, a landlord must consider 
whether any statutory payments are due, if any quantifiable 
losses have been incurred, the time and trouble a resident 
has been put to as well as any distress and inconvenience 
caused. 
  

YES Included in our compensation policy and follow 
Ombudsman guidelines on compensation 

 

Best practice ‘should’ requirements 

Code 
section  

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations  

6.3 Landlords should look beyond the circumstances of the 
individual complaint and consider whether anything needs 
to be ‘put right’ in terms of process or systems to the benefit 
of all residents.  

 YES We have gained significant learning from our complaints 
which we have used to inform our Housing Service 
Improvement Plan 
 

6.7 In some cases, a resident may have a legal entitlement to 
redress. The landlord should still offer a resolution where 
possible, obtaining legal advice as to how any offer of 
resolution should be worded.  
 
  

 YES We work closely with our Legal Team 

P
age 111



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

Section 7 - Continuous learning and improvement 
Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 

Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations 

7.2 Accountability and transparency are integral to a positive 
complaint handling culture. Landlords must report back on 
wider learning and improvements from complaints in their 
annual report and more frequently to their residents, staff, 
and scrutiny panels.  

 YES Information on performance in terms of timeliness and 
the number of complaints upheld is reported to services 
monthly and reported to Strategic Leadership Team 
(SLT) quarterly. Quarterly performance in respect of 
Ombudsman cases is provided to SLT and they also 
receive reports on the annual performance data and the 
annual letter from the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman. 
 
Complaint handling is reported to members quarterly as 
part of our performance reporting (Evidence 7.2 
Quarterly performance report to PC (Political Cabinet)). 
An annual report on ombudsman performance went to 
Audit Committee in September 2022 which included the 
LGSCO (Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman) annual letter and information on Housing 
Ombudsman maladministration findings. In addition, In 
February 23 the Housing Ombudsman annual data was 
reported. A further report on the Housing Ombudsman 
Annual final report will be shared wider internally in Q3 
23/24. 
 
A performance dashboard of key housing indicators 
including complaint data is being developed jointly with 
the Housing Representatives forum.  This is being 
considered by our Divisional Management Team and we 
are hoping this will be signed off when ready.  This 
information will be in addition to the Tenant Satisfaction 
Surveys (TSM) that we are obliged to submit from April 
2024 as part of the Social Housing Act 
requirements.  The TSM (Tenant Satisfaction Measures) 
requires data on complaints as well.  With regards to the 
lessons learnt and improvements, this will be now 

P
age 112



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

captured as part of the Director’s update report which is 
now a standard item at Representatives Forum meetings 
as well.  Jointly with the resident group we are reviewing 
their Forward Plan - and have included an annual report 
– which will incorporate feedback on complaints and 
lessons learnt. We are also looking how all this 
information can also be cascaded to the smaller TRA’s 
that currently exist.   

Best practice ‘should’ requirements 

Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations 

7.3 A member of the governing body should be appointed to 
have lead responsibility for complaints to support a positive 
complaint handling culture. This role will be responsible for 
ensuring the governing body receives regular information on 
complaints that provides insight to the governing body on 
the landlord’s complaint handling performance.  

YES  We have a member of our Strategic Leadership Team 
who is responsible for complaints across the Council and 
a lead member for complaints but given the focus on 
Housing complaints the Lead Member for Housing has 
been heavily involved in complaints performance 

7.4 As a minimum, governing bodies should receive: 

• Regular updates on the volume, categories, and 
outcome of complaints, alongside complaint handling 
performance including compliance with the 
Ombudsman’s orders 

• Regular reviews of issues and trends arising from 
complaint handling,  

• The annual performance report produced by the 
Ombudsman, where applicable  

• Individual complaint outcomes where necessary, 
including where the Ombudsman made findings of 
severe maladministration or referrals to regulatory 
bodies. The implementation of management responses 
should be tracked to ensure they are delivered to agreed 
timescales. The annual self-assessment against the 
Complaint Handling Code for scrutiny and challenge. 

 YES See response to 7.2 

P
age 113



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

7.5 Any themes or trends should be assessed by senior 
management to identify potential systemic issues, serious 
risks or policies and procedures that require revision. They 
should also be used to inform staff and contractor training.  

 YES To promote a positive complaint handling culture, 
ongoing training and coaching is provided to complaint 
handlers, for all stages of complaints. In March 2022, all 
customer service advisors were re-trained. An aspect of 
that training included in-depth needs analysis with 
improved repair diagnostic questions and an emphasis 
on the importance of recording in-depth repair job 
descriptions. Additional training has been delivered in 
July 2023 on the following: -  
• The importance of communicating with residents, 

focusing on honesty, openness, and transparency.  
• Identifying vulnerabilities and flagging them so they 

can be acted upon, to the whole of the Resident 
Experience Team.  

• Professional and consistent recording keeping, and 
updates provide an auditable trail of the case being 
handled.  

• Supporting our advisors on ‘how to manage 
challenging calls with confidence’ and ‘empathy’ 
training.  

• How to use and maintain the data on our housing 
management system, to ensure that the data we 
hold on to our residents/repairs is clean, up-to-date 
and fit-for-purpose.  
A Housing Ombudsman learning course, which was 
completed by Stage 2 Investigation Officers in 
September 2022. This was completed by the whole 
of the Resident Experience Team by 31 May 2023.  

7.6 Landlords should have a standard objective in relation to 
complaint handling for all employees that reflects the need 
to: 

• have a collaborative and co-operative approach towards 
resolving complaints, working with colleagues across 
teams and departments. 

• take collective responsibility for any shortfalls identified 
through complaints rather than blaming others. 

 YES  
Our revised performance management framework 
monitors complaints handling. In addition, as part of our 
revised performance management arrangements we will 
be embedding a culture where teams have an objective 
to improve our customers experience with specific 
attention on management of complaints. As part of the 
Service Improvement plan, we are working 

P
age 114



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

• act within the Professional Standards for engaging with 
complaints as set by the Chartered Institute of Housing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

collaboratively towards resolving complaints, working 
with colleagues across teams and departments. 
We are solution focussed and regularly share lessons 
learnt through complaints so colleagues can learn from 
mistakes rather than blaming others. The Professional 
Standards for engaging with complaints as set by the 
Chartered Institute of Housing form part of our training 
plan. 
 
 

 

 

 

Section 8 - Self-assessment and compliance 

Mandatory ‘must’ requirements 

Code 
section 

Code requirement Comply: 

Yes/No 

Evidence, commentary, and any explanations 

8.1 Landlords must carry out an annual self-assessment against 
the Code to ensure their complaint handling remains in line 
with its requirements.  

 YES The Council completed a self- assessment against the 
updated code in September 2022 and then revised this in 
December 2022 following delivery of action to ensure 
further compliance.  
 
A further review of this self-assessment was completed 
in September 2023. We plan to publish this on our 
website in quarter 3.  
 
The self-assessment prior to this one was reported to 
Cabinet in February 2023 and also referred to and a link 
included in our Annual Governance Statement. 

8.2 Landlords must also carry out a self-assessment following a 
significant restructure and/or change in procedures.  

 YES This reviewed self-assessment is in response to changes 
that have been made. 

8.3 Following each self-assessment, a landlord must:  

• report the outcome of their self-assessment to their 
governing body. In the case of local authorities, self-

 YES Following this review and the completion of work on 
restructuring the Housing Service and the approach to 

P
age 115



Complaint Handling Code LBHF reviewed 10th October 2023. Updated 15th November 2023 

assessment outcomes should be reported to elected 
members 

• publish the outcome of their assessment on their 
website if they have one, or otherwise make accessible 
to residents 

• include the self-assessment in their annual report 
section on complaints handling performance 

complaint handling, this self-assessment will be finalised 
and reported to members and published. 
 
 

 

P
age 116



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
Report to:   Audit Committee 
 
Date:  27/11/2023 
 
Subject: Risk Management Update 
 
Report of: Director of Audit, Risk, Fraud and Insurance  
 

 

SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Audit Committee with an update 
on risk management across the Council. 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
For the Committee to review, note and comment on the report. 
 
 

 

Wards Affected: None 
 

 
 

H&F Values Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Values  

 Building shared prosperity Good risk management helps to: 
maintain and promote the Council’s 
reputation; 

 Creating a compassionate 
council 

Is an enabling tool to help protect residents 
and staff including some of the most 
vulnerable in society; 

 Doing things with local 
residents, not to them 

Place people, businesses and the wider 
community at the heart of everything we do; 

 Being ruthlessly financially 
efficient 

Ensure robust financial and information 
management and supports internal control, 
opportunity and innovation; 

 Taking pride in H&F Protect valuable assets and the built and 
natural environment. 

 Rising to the challenge of the 
climate and ecological 
emergency 

Enabling an approach to climate-sensitive 
decision making 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 117

Agenda Item 8



Financial Impact  

 
The current and future context for local government represents a significant risk to the 
council with the ongoing challenge of delivering services and increased demand with 
reduced funding levels. This is further impacted by wider economic factors leading to 
rising costs, inflation and further cuts expected in public spending. This has seen the 
Council incur additional expenditure whilst at the same time seeing reductions in the level 
of resources available through a combination of lower income levels and inherent 
demographic/legislative pressures.  
 
There are no specific financial implications arising from this report. Services are expected 
to manage their risks within current budgets. Where additional funds are required to 
mitigate or manage risks, separate decisions reports will be required for the approval of 
unbudgeted expenditure. The council holds a corporate contingency budget and 
adequate levels of reserves to enable it to manage unforeseen costs.  
 
A standing corporate risk, Financial Management of in-year budget and Medium-Term 
Planning, identifies the risks to balancing the budget in response to continued 
government funding and demand pressures faced by the Council and the sector more 
generally and is assessed as high risk. The in-year position is reported in the Corporate 
Revenue Monitor to Cabinet and includes financial risks. Other corporate risks also 
identify financial pressures arising from demand and complexity of service provision 
which need to be managed.  
 

Comments verified by Sukvinder Kalsi, Director of Finance, 16 November 2023 

 

Legal implications 

 

There are no particular legal implications arising from this report. 

 

Comments verified by Grant Deg, Assistant Director of Legal Services, 16 November 
2023 

 

 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 

 
None  
 

 

DETAILED ANALYSIS 

Background 

 
1. To achieve the ambitions, outcomes and priorities set out in our Business Plan, it is 

essential that we continue to understand, manage and communicate the diverse 
range of risks and challenges that could threaten the organisation and vital services. 
Risks originate from a variety of sources, many of which are out of our direct control 
for example global events such as the coronavirus pandemic, the Russian invasion 
of Ukraine, Brexit, economic or market shocks, austerity or from climate change. 
More localised incidents can impact on residents, individuals, services and 
infrastructure.  

Page 118



 

2. It is paramount that all risks are clearly identified, managed and reported through 
the relevant channel. Risks can never be eliminated entirely but proportionate and 
targeted action can be taken to reduce risks to an acceptable level. Furthermore, 
the work of the Council’s Policy and Accountability Committees is acknowledged as 
a source of robust and additional assurance for the management of risk across its 
services. 

 

3. Effective governance and management of risks are particularly significant as funding 
for local government has diminished authorities’ objectives and are becoming 
increasingly fundamental and relate, for instance, to continuing to meet statutory 
service obligations. Arrangements must therefore be effective in a riskier, more 
time-pressured and less well-resourced context. 

 
4. Local authorities are required to maintain a sound system of internal control, 

including risk management, internal audit, and whistleblowing arrangements. Risk 
management is the application of Council strategies, governance, policies and 
processes to identify and manage risks that are unacceptable to the Council. 
Managing risk processes effectively enables the Council to safeguard against 
potential threats and take advantage of potential opportunities to improve services 
whilst continuing to provide better value for money for residents, visitors, local 
businesses and service users. 

 

5. The Council is accountable to the public for its performance and financial 
management. This means that the Council naturally has a low appetite for risk, 
however as financial challenges continue the Council will need to take carefully 
considered risks to develop new and innovative ways to deliver services, support 
communities and ensure the long-term wellbeing of communities is not impaired by 
decisions made in the short term. This makes good risk management essential.  

 
6. As part of its governance arrangements, the Council’s approach to risk management 

requires Directors, managers and staff, through their departmental Senior 
Management Teams to: identify risks; assess the risk; agree and take action to 
manage the risk; and monitor, review and escalate risks. 

 

7. The Council has robust risk management arrangements in place which feed into the 
Corporate Risk Register, which is set out in Appendix 1. This register contains the 
most significant cross-cutting risks that could impact on the outcomes that are set 
out in the Council’s priorities. These risks can be internal or external facing.   The 
Corporate Risk Register is reviewed on a regular basis by the Council’s Strategic 
Leadership Team (SLT) and then presented to the Audit Committee. 

 

8. Internal risks relate to the organisation itself and cover areas such as programmes, 
workforce, business continuity, safety or technology.  External risks are those that 
can affect the local area, its people, communities, businesses and infrastructure 
where the Council often has a role, in partnership, to mitigate them.   

 
9. Officers continue to review and assess the impact of and implications for residents 

and the Council from the events in Ukraine.  This includes ensuring that risks 
relating to the supply chain/contracts and cyber security are being appropriately and 

Page 119



robustly mitigated and where support is needed for those residents with families in 
Ukraine and neighbouring countries. 

 
10. This report provides the Committee with an updated Corporate Risk Register, 

presenting a suite of risks as reviewed by SLT.   

Changes made since July 

11. SLT members and Risk Owners have reviewed the Corporate Risk Register and 
agreed a number of changes which are reflected in the updated Risk Register 
provided in Appendix 1. 

 

12. A number of risks continue to recognise the significant economic uncertainty, 
particularly in respect of the continuing high level inflation and with recent increases 
in interest rates, alongside uncertainty on future funding for local authorities beyond 
2024/25. 

 
13. SLT Assurance reviewed the Corporate Risk Register again on 1 November 2023, 

with the following changes being made: 

 
Reduction in risk score 

 Risk 6 (Standards and delivery of care, protection of children and adults and 
associated data quality and information risks) has been reduced due to a 
number of factors including the ongoing recognition from Ofsted of the effective 
support for vulnerable children through various inspections.  

 Risk 16 (High needs budget pressure continues, impacting on provision of 
services for vulnerable young residents) has been reduced as planned savings 
are on track to be delivered and the growth in SEND provision is in line with the 
service forecast.  

 

Amended risk narrative 

 Risks 18 (Management of complaints, requests for information, members 
enquiries) and 27 (Repair system and contractor management not delivering 
performance at the required levels) recognise the ongoing corporate focus in 
delivering sustained performance improvements in repairs and complaints in 
housing.   

 Risk 9 (Failure to ensure compliance with the statutory duties to undertake 
inspection regimes covering management of asbestos, electrical testing, fire 
risk, plant and equipment, water testing/Legionella) confirms that all housing 
High Rise Buildings were registered with the Building Safety Regulator by the 
end of September and that no issues regarding Reinforce Autoclaved Aerated 
Concrete have been identified to date, with a programme of structural surveys 
being undertaken. 

 
14. No new risks have been added to the register or closed since July 2023.   

Corporate risk register – heat map 

15. The Corporate Risk Register is set out in Appendix 1 and summarised in the 
following Heat Map as at Quarter 2 for 2023/24, with the Heat Map for Quarter 1 for 
2023/24 provided for comparison.  Risks which have been subject to change since 
the Quarter 1 2023/23 Risk Register which was reported to the Committee in July 
2023 are shown in the larger bold underlined type:  

Page 120



  

Page 121



OVERVIEW RISK HEAT MAP 
 

 

 

 

Page 122



Risk appetite 

16. The Council remains accountable to the public for its performance and financial 
management. This means that the Council naturally has a low appetite for risk, 
however with the ongoing challenges faced by the Council, there is a need to 
continue to develop new and innovative ways to continue to deliver services, 
support and ensure the long-term wellbeing of communities is not impaired by 
decisions made in the short term. This makes good risk management essential.  

 

17. The ongoing situation in Ukraine continues to impact on the cost of domestic and 
business energy costs and fuel costs for activities such as transport and heating. 
While there has been a slight reduction in costs over the past few months (still at 
much higher levels than two years ago) it is anticipated that energy costs will rise 
again later in the year.  Inflation is still at a very high level and interest rates have 
increased significantly over the past 12 months.  The cost of living crisis is also likely 
lead to increased demand for services where residents will need more support. 

 
18. These factors impact on the Council in a number of ways including its staffing costs 

(including the level of pay awards), the cost of borrowing (particularly where it is 
needed for ongoing/planned capital works), cost pressures on contractors providing 
Council services (staffing, fuel, materials). The impact will also be felt by partner 
organisations (such as schools and the voluntary and community sector, where 
officers will closely monitor the impact and consider any support the Council will be 
able to provide.      

 
19. A key concern for the Council is the impact that the cost of living crisis being 

experienced by residents through inflation and rising energy costs as well as the 
ongoing economic uncertainty (including the potential for rising unemployment).  A 
range of support measures are being offered to residents and officers will continue 
to assess the situation and consider what further actions can be taken. 

 
20. These and other factors are kept under regular review by SLT.  This is done to 

ensure that ongoing impacts are recognised and appropriate mitigations put in place 
to protect Council services and local residents. 

 

21. This report provides assurance on the Council’s corporate risk management 
arrangements, explaining the internal control arrangements in place at a strategic 
level. It provides one of the sources of assurance the Committee can consider when 
approving the Annual Governance Statement.  It also enables the Committee to fulfil 
its roles under the Committee’s Terms of Reference to review the adequacy of 
Council’s Corporate Governance arrangements, including matters such as internal 
control and risk management.  

Conclusions 

22. Local authorities will continue to face significant pressures over the coming months, 
with the prospect of further reductions in public spending, combined with external 
economic pressures and concurrent demand led pressures. Council officers and 
services continue to respond with partners to changing circumstances at pace, 
interpreting and implementing new guidance and regulations as they arise. 

 
 
 

Page 123

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/cost-living-crisis-find-help-here


LIST OF APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 – Corporate Risk Register 

 
 

Page 124



Appendix 1 - Corporate Risk Register – October 2023 
 

Council 
Priority 

 Risk  

Risk 
No. 

Q1 
23/24 
Likeli
hood 

Q1 
23/ 
24 

Impa
ct 

Q2 
23/24 

Likelih
ood 

Q2 
23/ 
24 

Imp
act 

Current position Resid
ual 

Expos
ure 

Status 
Lead 

Director/ 
Risk Owner 

Being 
ruthlessly 
financially 
efficient 

Commercial, contract 
management and 
procurement risks, 
rules, outcomes, 
social value, 
management of 
spend and contractor 
performance 
management.  

1 3 4 3 4 

The Council has a well-established Corporate Procurement Team. The Contracts Assurance Board meets weekly to ensure 
governance compliance, consider new future procurement legislation, the major medium-term procurements that are in progress and 
to update our policies e.g., Social Value Policy, as necessary.  

Under the IT system category procurement portal, Digital Services supports departments through the procurement process with 
Strategic Relationship Managers and project delivery team – however, these are project delivery experts and not procurement 
experts. The current model – where services are meant to nominate a business lead for their digital and IT contracts – is under-
resourced and will be reviewed.  With the new Public Sector Procurement Bill coming into effect from October 2024, there is an 
increased risk that the lack of resourcing around digital and IT procurement could lead to procurement failure and/or an inability to 
secure the best value for the contract. There is also a significant cybersecurity risk if adequate resourcing is not in place to ensure 
suppliers are properly assessed and monitored throughout the lifetime of a contract. A robust process to comply with standing orders 
exists as well as fortnightly contract monitoring process.  

The Assistant Director Procurement and Commercial is leading on a number of workstreams including Category Management 
(shared with SLT), Sourcing Strategy agreed at Cabinet, refresher training on procurement/evaluation of social value and progressing 
the operational delivery plans.  

A Forward Plan was also recently considered by SLT, and further work is required by departments to refine their forward planning 
processes. 

The Council is also refreshing the reporting of performance against the main contracts, with a view to preparing for the new 
procurement regulations focus on performance.  

M Stable 
Sukvinder 

Kalsi  

Being 
ruthlessly 
financially 
efficient 

Failure to maintain 
services to residents 
in the event of IT 
systems being 
compromised and 
affecting service 
resilience. 
 

3 4 4 4 4 

The Council continues to monitor and mitigate external risks which may affect its IT systems, including attempts to breach our 
network through cyber-attacks, on-going security patching, the robustness of our supplier chain and overall disaster recovery 
provision against a backdrop of increasing costs. Digital services held mitigation workshops with service leads to provide advice and 
prompt consideration of alternative options actions to take in the event of IT systems being unavailable. This will both inform Digital 
Services’ disaster recovery plans and assist services to update business continuity plans where appropriate.  

Digital Services has enhanced its email security, improving the filtering and monitoring of traffic from devices to prevent phishing 
attacks and malware contained within email which may result in user credentials becoming compromised. Digital Services are 
strengthening the security of shared tenancy data through standardising H&F, RBKC and WCC policies and controls to reduce the 
risk that a compromise of one boroughs data could affect all. Internal Audit continue to provide assurance in this area, with the most 
recent audit report dated September 2022 on Ransomware Prevention finding the councils controls for an attack as providing 
‘satisfactory assurance’.  

In Feb 2023 Digital Services participated in an expert led cyber security workshop and will be working through the key 
recommendations of the Cyber Treatment Plan to identify opportunities to improve the security of our systems further. Digital 
Services are seeking assurances from third parties who provide/support multiple systems and platforms for the Council that they 
have adequate cyber security arrangements in place to mitigate the potential for loss of services provided. 

H Stable Nicola Ellis 

Being 
ruthlessly 
financially 
efficient 

Information 
management and 
digital continuity, 
regulations, 
legislation, and 
compliance. 

4 3 4 3 4 

The nature of the Council’s business activities means that there are ongoing information governance risks, including network security, 
which continue to be managed. These risks are managed through a range of organisational measures including Information 
Management (IM) & Information security (IS) mandatory training, maintenance of policies, guidance documents, standards, and 
codes of practice. The Council deploys technical measures to protect its network and infrastructure.  

The Council continues to monitor the regulatory environment to ensure continued compliance with information governance 
obligations. Digital services engaged with services across the council to update H&F’s Information Asset in 2021 and procured a 
software solution to enable the maintenance of H&F’s asset register in 2022 leading to improved compliance with information assets 
laws and quicker identification, assessment, and mitigation of information related risks. work has begun in 2023 to improve the quality 
of data in the system working alongside service area contacts. In partnership with other London Boroughs and the London Office of 
Technology and Innovation (LOTI) H&F has documented data sharing agreements with the Police, Probation Service, Health Service, 
and other partners to support the lawful sharing of personal data in an efficient way. Digital Services has recruited to its new target 
operating model, and recruitment of a Senior Information Security Officer has taken place to support delivery of our Cyber Treatment 
Plan. 

M Stable Nicola Ellis 

Creating a 
compassiona
te council 

Managing statutory 
duties, equalities, 
human rights, duty of 
care regulations, 
highways. * Health 
and Safety moved to 
new Risk 32 

5 3 3 3 3 

The Chief Executive chairs the Statutory Accountabilities Board, whose membership includes the Monitoring Officer (Director of 
Resources), Section 151 Officer (Director of Finance), Director of Children’s Services, Director of Social Care and Director of Public 
Health. The remit of the Board is to review and consider the Council’s compliance with its statutory duties. 

The potential for ongoing changes in the regulatory environment post-Brexit is kept under review, with reporting taking place to SLT 
and Finance PAC. 

M Stable 
All SLT 

Members 

P
age 125



Appendix 1 - Corporate Risk Register – October 2023 
 

Creating a 
compassiona
te council 

i)    Standards and 
delivery of care, 
protection of children 
and adults and 
associated data 
quality and 
information risks.  
ii) Reliance on 
external assurance 
providers and 
providers to identify 
and communicate 
issues arising from 
inspections e.g., 
Ofsted and Care 
Quality Commission 

6 3 4 3 3 

Children’s Services 

Ofsted: Our Annual Assurance conversation with Ofsted recognised our effective support for vulnerable children evidenced through 
the range of previous inspection activity and further evidence through our annual self- assessment.  

QA programme: Practice week completed recently in October, analysis in process. 

HMIP: July 2022 inspection rated the YJS outstanding. No further inspection expected for 2-3 years. 

Corporate BI - Continued focus on data requirements for the SEND Inspection Framework and on completion of CYPS statutory 
returns.  

School Improvement Team: 100% of schools are rated good or outstanding.  

SEND Inspection: SEF has been updated and shared with stakeholders. Inspection prep group has been meeting regularly in ensure 
plans are in place. Recent QA processes are also being honed to focus on inspection readiness. 

Adult Social Care 

ASC commissioning work closely with commissioned providers to manage risk through regular and focused contract monitoring 
meetings. Contract monitoring meeting will now include an agenda focussed on what resident have said about services and what 
providers are doing to address these issues. For homecare providers, weekly SITREP meeting are held and commissioning in liaison 
with our Quality Assurance Leas also carry out regular visit to provider locations and carry out quality checks in resident’s own 
homes. Quality Lead are focused on understanding home care provider systems and processes to suggest improvements have been 
assigned to each main homecare provider. 

For our four nursing homes focussed, monthly Joint Operational Group meetings involving the provider, health, GPs, and H&F are 
held to support the entire health and social care system and hospital discharge pathway. Three out of four care homes are now rated 
as Care Quality Commission – Good. This is a significant improvement in quality and demonstrates the work that has gone into 
improve standards. 

Where providers evidence consistent poor performance contractual sanctions are considered, and performance improvement plans 
put in place to support improvements and keep our residents safe. This feeds into discussions that take place at as monthly ASC 
Care Governance & Quality Assurance Board. The board meets to share, discuss, and agree actions in relation to information 
received both internally and externally regarding providers of services. Monthly forums with all providers are in place. The Strategic 
Director also chairs a six-weekly CQC area leads meeting where all parties are keeping abreast on quality of care issues with 
regulated care providers. 

The cost of living crisis will have a potential impact on the care market as some providers may be forced to close. 

Shepherd’s Bush Housing Group divestment is still ongoing but has been managed corporately. Discussions are ongoing between 
children’s, adults, economy, Housing and property about how to best adapt and use council assets to meet needs and ensure more 
stable local provision is available going forward. Children services and community safety have purchased a number of the shepherds 
bush housing group properties, and this has lowered risks.   

Notting Hill Genesis services have been sold and novated over to Housing 21 who are keen to work with the council moving forward.  
Adult social care is developing a positive and constructive partnership with Housing 21. 

M  Reduced 
Jacqui 

McShannon/  
Linda Jackson 

Being 
ruthlessly 
financially 
efficient 

Failure to identify and 
address internal and 
external fraud. 

8 3 4 3 4 

Policies are reviewed bi-annually at SLT Assurance and the Audit Committee. Refreshed Fraud Response Plan, Anti-Money 
Laundering and Bribery Policies have been reviewed and were presented to the Audit Committee in June 2021.The Council's Anti-
Fraud and Corruption Strategy spans 2020-2023 and contains an action plan to provide SLT with a tool to ensure progress and 
transparency regarding counter-fraud activities. Performance is reported to both the Audit Committee and SLT to demonstrate how 
counter fraud work aligns with the Strategy and contributes to the Council's overall fraud resilience. Reporting also identifies 
emerging fraud risks and proposed mitigations. Fraud Awareness training is available on the Learning Platform to all staff and a 
bespoke course was assigned to staff in the Social Care department. The Council has joined the London Fraud Hub which matches a 
number of data sets across councils in London to highlight potential fraud cases for investigation. 

M Stable David Hughes  

Taking 
Pride in 
Hammersm
ith & 
Fulham, 
doing 
things with, 
not to 
residents 

Failure to ensure 
compliance with the 
statutory duties to 
undertake inspection 
regimes covering 
management of 
asbestos, electrical 
testing, fire risk, plant 
and equipment, water 
testing/Legionella. 

9 3 4 3 4 

Corporate property remains compliant with 90% compliant score over the last three years and completion of recommended remedials 
within the reports. Internal audit review is currently underway to assure FM’s compliance and repairs practice.  

Housing stock remains compliant across key areas - gas, electrical safety, water, gas, asbestos, and fire – monthly rolling monitoring 
programme in place. Risk based assessment in place for 19 buildings over 18+ metres with combustible spandrels/infill panels. Data 
uploaded to LFB portal. New Fire Safety Regulations came into force 23 Jan 23; systems in place, reporting will be via monthly 
compliance-based report. The Building Safety Act requires all buildings over 18 metres must be registered with the new regulator by 
30 September; all Housing’s 49 High Rise Buildings have been registered.   

Compliance based capital works, including fire door upgrades, sprinkler installation, wet riser installation etc continues including 
tower blocks at Edward Woods and Charecroft. Fire Risk Assessments (FRAs) are undertaken in line with fire safety management 
system. The resulting actions (1,815), which fluctuate as new FRAs are completed are monitored weekly and prioritised according to 
risk, currently there are zero Priority 1 hazards outstanding.  Programme of lone working training & devices continues to be rolled out 
to officers. Independent Audit undertaken by external auditors, Pennington, all areas satisfactory and audits by Mazars satisfactory 
too. A programme of structural surveys is being drawn up as part of on-going monitoring of the housing portfolio. The initial focus is 
on buildings over 11 metres in height, 49 HRBs are complete. Structural works to address known identified issues are in train, there 
is no known evidence of Reinforced Autoclaved Aerated Concrete. 

M Stable 
Jonathan 
Pickstone 

 

P
age 126



Appendix 1 - Corporate Risk Register – October 2023 
 

All Council 
Values  

Unable to retain 
talented people in 
key posts at LBHF. 

12 3 4 3 4 

Our percentage turnover is currently showing a downward trend, slightly above the corporate target of 10%.   

In terms of key posts, whilst we have signed up to the social worker London Pledge to help control costs, we continue to work closely 
with business leaders and wider partnerships to identify initiatives to grow our own talent and promote more widely the benefits of 
working for H&F. 

Work continues across London Councils to broaden the appeal of Local Government in the employment market to make an impact 
on attracting suitable, high-quality candidates and we have joined and are actively involved in the LGA Local Government 
Recruitment Campaign 

We are carefully monitoring our turnover position and our HR Business Partners are working closely with SLT leads and their 
management teams to identify workforce planning needs going forward. Whilst we are seeing some churn, our retention and turnover 
rates are stable but under constant review. 

People and Talent continue to lead on activities to further improve our Employer Value Proposition (EVP) and ensure we can 
continue to attract and retain talent.  we have signed up to secure accreditation with Timewise which will help to promote H&F as a 
fair and flexible employer. We have moved up a level in our accreditation for Disability Confident and have signed up to Purple Space 
and Opening Doors.  Other initiatives we are actively promoting to raise our EVP and secure talent for the future is our H&F Academy 
(apprenticeships, graduates, supported interns & Get Ahead) for which we have been awarded Winners with PPMA Excellence in 
HR. We are also shortlisted finalists in the category of Best Large Employer and have been approached by the LGA and have 
published a recent blog on what we are doing at the Council to embrace and embed our commitment to inclusion. 

The Council is committed to staff wellbeing, learning and development and continues to deliver online and virtual wellbeing and 
learning and development events including Get Ahead, World Class Managers, Aspiring World Class Managers, Emerging Leaders, 
an Introduction to Project Management and much more.   

Our internal progression initiative is pivotal in helping us to retain key skills. 

H Stable Nicola Ellis 

Doing things 
with, not to 
residents 

Failure to deliver the 
Civic Campus 
Programme. 

14 3 4 3 4 

The project has been delayed due to the impact of the site incident in May 22 and the consequences of the termination of the original 
architects by the contractor, together with wider commercial and contractual discussions. In terms of Contract A (Town Hall building), 
the collapsed steel work has been replaced and work is now progressing well on site and is being monitored by the Client 
Management Team (CMT) daily.  A revised build programme was received from the contractor in May 23 which includes a revised 
completion date of early summer 24.  This is subject to ongoing detailed scrutiny and challenge by the CMT. Regarding contractual 
issues, the contractor has recently submitted a loss and/or expense claim in respect of Contracts A and B which is currently being 
assessed by the Council. Additional expertise has also been brought into the Council team including in the areas of contract delay 
analysis and damp specialists. The commercial strategy for the town hall is being advanced, including the procurement strategy for 
various catering operations within the building, retail/food and beverage space, 6

th
 floor restaurant, cinema operator and office 

accommodation. 

In terms of contract B (new build homes and commercial space) construction work continues to progress at a good pace with 
completion programmed for summer 24.  The residential sales marketing suite and show apartment on King Street opened in June 
23, several marketing events were held throughout the summer and early autumn. Sales of the private flats are progressing steadily 
despite the wider economic challenges of high interest rates etc. Affordable units to be launched early 2024. 

H Stable Jon Pickstone  

Creating a 
compassion
ate council 

High needs budget 
pressure continues, 
impacting on 
provision of services 
for vulnerable young 
residents.  

16 3 4 3 3 

The SEND Transformation programme: All key SEND documents have now progressed through governance and final versions 
published.  

Delivery of savings targets: Small surplus forecast for 2023/24 subject to delivery of agreed savings programmes which remain on 
track.  

COVID Impact: SEND growth has remained in line with predictions. 

Therapist shortages: Successful recruitment by SALT provider with new capacity on stream this term to mitigate remaining gaps. 

M Stable 
Jacqui 

McShannon 

P
age 127



Appendix 1 - Corporate Risk Register – October 2023 
 

All Council 
Values  

Management of 
complaints, requests 
for information, 
members enquiries 

18 4 4 4 4 

Performance concerns persist regarding the completion of repairs and resolving complaints. However, an improvement plan is 
currently being developed and will be shared with SLT and politicians by July 2023.  

The Housing Ombudsman cases continues to present a significant ongoing risk as we are now under active investigation by them 
(June 2023). We previously reported that we had nine severe finding in six cases, whilst now we have 14 findings in nine cases, the 
majority of which are associated with historic cases (as noted previously), and we have undertaken their recommendations. The 
housing Ombudsman has also contacted us for evidence prior to them making a judgement on the handling of H&F housing related 
complaints. This report is due in January, and we have provided them with all the requested information.  

Our previous update noted that the Social Housing Regulator requested information on nine points. We have now provided them this 
information and have also been producing monthly reports to demonstrate how our complaints, repairs and tenant satisfaction meets 
consumer standards. We are still awaiting their judgement. The Social Housing Regulator has also requested a response to nine 
separate points to determine whether H&F have not met consumer standards for residents. We are meeting the Regulator in July to 
discuss our response to them. 

In order to mitigate against the complaint failures, we have set up the Complaints and Disputes Resolution team, which  have been 
instrumental in resolving historic cases and significantly reducing open complaints. As also previously reported, housing complaints 
performance is also overseen by an SLT chaired board, with regular oversight of the progress being made. 

Previously it was noted that Stage 1 & 2’s would move over to Housing from Corporate, and this has now happened. Housing 
Management complaints will move over in November whilst the remaining complaints for housing will follow suite later. 

In terms of RAG Rating, the risk remains high as we are still awaiting judgements from both the Housing Ombudsman and Social 
Housing Regulator. However, our performance in terms of complaints management has improved substantially with no overdue 
housing repair complaints outstanding since the 24

th
 September. The RAG status will be reviewed once the judgement has been 

made.  

H Stable 
Jon Pickstone/ 

Nicola Ellis 

Being 
ruthlessly 
financially 
efficient 

Financial 
Management - 
Medium-Term 
Planning.  

19 3 4 3 4 

The Council’s financial operating environment remains challenging (with the macro-economic inflationary/interest pressures, lower 
household incomes and rising unemployment). This will increase all operating costs including pay and external service contracts, 
affect the affordability of regeneration programmes, reduce our commercial income, and increase arrears on rents, council tax, 
business rates as households, visitors and businesses reduce costs. It will also impact of services especially homelessness and 
other welfare services. In addition, there are many national reforms in progress (business rates, social care funding, social housing 
rent caps) and there are substantial demographic and new legislative burdens.  

The Council has a well-developed and established medium term financial planning process (for revenue, capital, and treasury 
management). SLT have been provided with a preliminary MTFS budget gap for the period 2024/25 to 2027/28. There will be 
considerable work taking place corporately across summer 2023 to meet the 2024/25 budget gap. The General Fund financial 
position is relatively strong (stable debt levels, reserves, and cash balances) but the outlook is more difficult on the HRA (although 
the recent decision by Cabinet on the 6 February 2023 on rents/service charges has increased financial resilience of the HRA). The 
Council has established strong in-year financial governance arrangements (from Finance SLT to DMTs).  

M Stable 
Sukvinder 

Kalsi/ 

Creating a 
compassiona
te council 

Financial 
Management - in 
year budget 
2022/2023 and 
Medium-Term 
Planning: Social Care 

20 2 4 2 4 

The adult social care and public health budgets will balance this year 22/23 and have delivered their required savings. 

The required savings and growth have been agreed for 23/24 following the MTFS process. 

The adult social care budget continues to be very pressurised due to the requirements of the Fair Cost of Care funding reforms; 
inflation and price increases and the market volatility. 

M Stable Linda Jackson 

All Council 
values 

Corporate 
management of 
Health and Safety  

21 3  4 3  4 

The health and safety board continues to meet every 8 weeks. Corporate health and safety report no Health and Safety Executive 
enforcement this quarter and for the previous quarter.  

The annual health and safety at work report highlighting the council’s activities and performance for 2022/23 was presented to the 
Council’s Audit Committee on 26

th
 July 2023.  

Staff training programmes and activities have been extended including a risk assessment training course which has been added to 
the learning zone. In addition, a large part of the IOSH Managing Safely Course concentrates on risk. To date numerous teams 
across the council have successfully completed the course and att. ed IOSH accreditation. Those teams taking up the training have 
included HR, Events, Housing, Fire Teams, and Adult Social Care. The risk assessment database has been added to the accident 
and reporting system and is now in operation with a training module attached as well as monthly training sessions for staff. 

The Corporate Safety Team are in the process of reviewing team risk assessments as part of their audit process over the next three 
months. A new training module is being finalised to go on the learning zone on the topic of violence and aggression and will be 
shared at the next meeting of the health and safety board in November, also at that meeting will be the fire strategy document for the 
new campus site.  

M Stable 
Jonathan 
Pickstone 

Taking 
Pride in 
Hammersm
ith & 
Fulham, 
Doing 
things with, 
not to 
residents 

Impact on the local 
economy and 
businesses from the 
closure of 
Hammersmith Bridge 
to pedestrians, road, 
and river traffic. 

22 3 4 3 4 

Works for stabilisation is in the final stage with the jacking operation starting in late July. Procurement has started for the main works. 
CCSO and monitoring continues and 24/7 personnel on the bridge. Work continues to stabilise the bridge with the pedestals in case 
in concrete and the next phase will be to Jack the bridge to replace the barings.   

4 Stable Bram Kainth 

P
age 128



Appendix 1 - Corporate Risk Register – October 2023 
 

Rising to 
the 
challenge 
of the 
climate and 
ecological 
emergency 

Failure on the part of 
the Council to 
mobilise its response 
to the Climate 
Change emergency. 26 3 4 3 4 

The Climate Emergency Unit and climate strategy for a net zero borough by 2030 are in place along with a Climate Strategy 
Implementation Group to increase scrutiny and deliver actions at pace. A detailed audit of the Council’s carbon footprint is now an 
annual activity to track progress against our action plan and to provide a robust evidence base for costing and prioritising 
organisational carbon reduction activity. Quick win workstreams to influence emissions through policy have been progressed, 
including emissions-based policies on parking, council fleet, energy procurement, and wider procurement. Engagement is underway 
with local businesses and organisations through the H&F Climate Alliance, and H&F has been a leader in designing and 
implementing the UN’s climate education programme. Flooding has expedited the need for a climate adaptation plan to prepare 
residents, businesses and the council for more extreme weather including heavy rainfall and heatwaves. Individuals, households, and 
infrastructure will need to adapt and prepare for more of occurrences and the council has an important supporting role. 

M Stable Bram Kainth 

Taking 
Pride in 
Hammersm
ith & 
Fulham, 
Doing 
things with, 
not to 
residents 

Repair system and 
contractor 
management not 
delivering 
performance at the 
required levels. 
leading to 
reputational damage, 
enforcement action 
and external 
intervention, legal 
disrepair cases and 
Category 1 Hazards, 
HHSRS, Damp, 
Mould, etc. 
 

27 4 4 4 4 

Overall, we are trying to mitigate against this risk, in-line with direction set by internal audit, the monitoring officer, the Housing 
Ombudsman, and the Social Housing Regulator.  

The repairs team are focused on the day to day contract and WIP management of our external contractors and our in-house Direct 
Labour Organisation (DLO), with 70% of all current jobs within a three month window which is a positive movement of completions. 
The service is delivering over 1,000 jobs per week and new contractors for Plumbing and Electrical works are being on boarded in 
November 2023 for winter volumes of repairs.  

The DLO has been expended and will be focused on in dwelling repairs during the winter months to further manage and support 
leaks and repairs and we have recruited and mobilised additional external contractors, which are fully focused on Voids, 
Ombudsman, Stage 2, disrepair and Mould and Damp cases. 

Internal staffing structures recruited with a Head of operations employed with a team dedicated and focused on Capital works and 
complex repairs and disrepair cases. 

Contractual levers are being used to deal with performance failures and to further protect the council’s position financially and 
contractually with our client obligations.  

Damp and Mould cases have reduced to less than 41 jobs outstanding and within a 30-day period. Disrepair cases being managed 
and run down with positive gains on Communal repairs. Staff structure and new resources under way and the service is targeting 
80% of WIP within 3 months.  

Reprofiling of estates and repairs across the existing lots are under reviewed with a proposal to target early service failures (New 
jobs) with an aim to have all live jobs delivered in time. Target 80% by end of December 2023. 

In order to fund this additional capacity, we have refocused £43 million of spend onto repairs over the forthcoming three years, in 
addition to existing repairs budgets. This is mostly capital spend given the complexity of many jobs in our backlog. 

We have several priorities including reducing the backlog of legal disrepair cases, complaints including Ombudsman cases, and 
keeping our residents safe. We also seek to reduce the backlog of work-in-progress (WIP) to sustainable levels and reduce revenue 
loss to the council by reducing the number of outstanding voids.  

Key risks remain managing across multiple critical priorities and substantial long-term and ongoing challenges, managing a greater 
number of repairs contractors, and improving the repairs service without excessively pressuring the Housing Revenue Account.  

H Stable  
Jonathan 
Pickstone 

Being 
ruthlessly 
financially 
efficient, 
Rising to 
the 
challenge 
of the 
climate and 
ecological 
emergency 

Failure to manage 
the requirements of 
the New 
Environmental Act 
which will change the 
way in which the 
Waste service 
operates and how it 
contributes to the 
Council’s carbon zero 
commitment. 

30 3 3 3 3 

Work to feed into any further Defra consultation on potential changes. Likely and foreseeable changes have been factored into the 
new waste service contract, however there is little clarity on how the Act will be implemented at present until detailed regulations and 
guidance have been published. Requirements specifically for food waste collections and some other waste streams were made 
available on 21

st
 October with a 4-week consultation period. We will participate in the consultation and identify any opportunities as 

well as risks that the proposals present for LBHF.  
M Stable Bram Kainth 

P
age 129



Appendix 1 - Corporate Risk Register – October 2023 
 

 
  

Taking 
pride in 
Hammersm
ith and 
Fulham 

Failure to manage 
the negative impact 
of flooding, due to 
adverse weather 
conditions, on 
residents and 
businesses. 
Consequences of the 
Climate Emergency. 
One in a hundred 
events that lead to 
the overloading our 
surface water 
systems (gullies) 
which results in 
widespread flooding 
and consequent 
damage to homes 
and businesses. 
Fluvial flooding as 
the most at risk 
London Borough. 

31 3 4 3 4 

Mitigations:  

1. Tree management system allowing water to collect underneath the tree and slow release into the ground has been installed in 
Bloemfontein Road, Seagrave Road, Overstone and Gallaway Roads. Number of green infrastructures are increasing. Seven 
more schemes in the programme for this year.  

2. x2 Countess Creek Project with Thames Water have been completed and are working the Thames water Independent Review 
confirm that they had worked during the flooding event on 12

th
 July 2021. 

3. Working with Economy on their regeneration projects to deliver enhance flood risk. 

4. Continued to work with Thames water on delivering flood mitigation they have offered assistance on the de-paving programme we 
will roll out and offered flow data on the first phase of flood risk scheme in Brackenbury. 

5. Developing our own programmes of works on the public highway Including doing further work on retrofit measures in a number of 
borough streets that will have impact on reducing flood risk. 

6. Highways are delivery de-paving schemes. 

7. Sewer network remains a Thames Water asset that we have no remit over so we will continue to work with them to ensure we 
reduce the water flow off our highway to a minimum where possible.  

8. Flood Risk Board set up and meeting regularly and officers working Cllr Rowbottom (Flood Risk Czar)  

9. Bi-monthly meetings with Thames Water set up – Challenge on action plan, programme and seek funding opportunities and joint 
working. 

10. Action plan approved by SLT 

11. Thames Water delivering a programme of adding Non Return Values (NRV) to often further protection to properties.  

12. Thames water undertaking surveys to add further measures they have written to 1,461 properties in H&F. 331 of them that had 
previously reported their flooding and 1,500 believed to have flooded. Thames Water have installed NRV in key locations such as 
Hammersmith Grove. 

13. Working with other boroughs such as Camden, Westminster and RBKC who are part of the chain of sewers that impact 
Hammersmith and Fulham on other initiatives such as lobbying for insurance provisions for London properties, joint bids for 
funding and aligning projects.  

14. Creation of a London Surface Water Management group to push for increased mitigation for London.  

M Stable Bram Kainth 

All 
Priorities 

Failure to maintain 
services to residents 
or progress works or 
development 
because of provider 
failure or market 
failure. (This includes 
a legal requirement 
to step in where care 
agencies fail even if 
the council does not 
commission them)  

32 4 3 4 3 

The following frameworks are in place to mitigate the potential risks: 

1. Departments have well developed business plans, and these are being refreshed.  

2. Risk assessment of markets and high-risk contracts being undertaken by Contract. 

3. Assurance Board to inform where alternative provision or arrangements may need to be planned. 

4. Forward Plan of major contract re-procurements over the next 18 months has been developed. 

5. Risk management plan established for any residents who may be impacted.  

6. Regular reports to SLT Assurance. 

M Stable 
Sukvinder 

Kalsi 

P
age 130



Appendix 1 - Corporate Risk Register – October 2023 
 
 
Key 

  16-25 Red  High risk, immediate management action is required. 
  11-15 Amber  Medium risk, review controls for appropriateness and effectiveness 

1-10 Green  Low risk, monitor and if escalates quickly check controls 
Blue  Opportunity risk      

 
Likelihood and Impact Based on a 1 to 5 scale with 1 Very Low and 5 Very High, the Score then is automatically calculated by multiplying them together. 
 
Help         
Risk Description Risk described in a language that articulates clearly what could go wrong or what opportunity could be achieved.       
Residual Exposure Extent of the risk once the controls are currently in place. This is known as the residual risk and is calculated by multiplying impact of risk and likelihood of occurrence.     
Existing Controls Not all risks can be managed, but those that can are managed using a variety of controls.        
   The art of risk management is to apply controls that are effective and efficient in reducing the exposure.        
Risk Owner  This is the person or team best positioned to manage the identified risk            

P
age 131



 

1 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to:  Audit Committee  
 
Date:   27 November 2023 
 
Subject:  Internal Audit Progress Report (April to October 2023) 
 
Report of:  David Hughes 
 
Responsible Director: Director of Audit, Fraud, Risk, and Insurance 
 

 
Summary 
 
This report summarises the status of work included in the 2023/24 Internal Audit 
Plan as at the end of October 2023.  Two audits have been finalised, both of which 
received positive assurance opinions, with a further six audits at draft report stage.   
 
The status of audits confirmed for inclusion within the Plan, is shown in Appendix 2.   
 
Recommendations 
 

1. For the Board to note and comment on the report. 
 
Wards Affected: None 
 

 
H&F Values 
 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F Priorities  

Building a shared 
prosperity 

Internal audit work covers a wide range of services including 
those which are delivered in partnership with local and 
national companies.  Assurance may be required over 
governance arrangements to demonstrate the benefit to 
residents of co-delivered services. 

Creating a 
compassionate 
council 

Internal audit provides assurance that the Council’s 
resources are managed appropriately to provide the most 
effective support to the most vulnerable residents.    

Doing things with 
residents, not to 
them 

Where engagement with residents is part of service 
development, internal audit will consider how well co-
production and resident access is embedded in a process.   

Being ruthlessly 
financially efficient 

The work undertaken by Internal Audit helps to ensure that 
management have robust controls and practices in place to 
safeguard the Council’s assets, controlling expenditure and 
maximising potential income to protect and invest in 
essential frontline services which are in place to meet the 
Council’s priorities. 
 

Taking pride in Investment in public realm services such as waste 

Page 132

Agenda Item 9



 

2 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F Priorities  

H&F collection, street cleaning and open/park spaces is 
significant.  The internal audit strategy identifies services for 
cyclical review, including contract management for 
outsourced services and performance delivery for in-house 
services.   

Rising to the 
challenge of the 
climate and 
ecological 
emergency 

Internal Audit consider the impact of strategies, including, 
the Climate and Ecology Strategy, in a number of different 
reviews that form part of the Internal Audit Plan.   

 
Contact Officer: 
 
Name:  David Hughes 
Position: Shared Services Director for Audit, Fraud, Risk, and Insurance 
Telephone: 020 7361 2389 
Email:  David.HughesAudit@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
None 
 

 
DETAILED ANALYSIS 
 
Internal Audit Work to October 2023 
 

1. The Audit Committee are provided with updates at each meeting on progress 
against the Annual Audit Plan and on any limited or no assurance audits 
issued in the period. 
 

2. The Audit Plan for 2023/24 was reviewed by the Audit Committee in March 
2023.  To ensure that the Annual Audit Plan is more responsive to changing 
risks and challenges, it has been developed as a ‘3 plus 9-month’ plan.  This 
approach allows for the first three months to be identified in detail with the 
remaining nine months being more flexible to suit the needs of the Council at 
the time.  The Plan is reviewed and updated following discussions with 
Directors, taking into account changing risks and priorities.  The revised Plan 
is reported to the Committee on a quarterly basis and any significant changes 
in the coverage of the Plan will be highlighted. 

  

Page 133



 

3 

3. Four assurance levels are used and when an audit is completed, an 
assurance opinion is provided.  A description of each of the assurance levels 
is summarised below:  
 

Assurance 
Level 

Description 

Substantial 
Assurance: 

There is a sound system of internal control designed to 
achieve their objectives and the control processes tested 
are being consistently applied. 

Satisfactory 
Assurance: 

While there is generally a sound system of internal 
control, there are weaknesses which put some of the 
objectives at risk; and/or there is evidence that the level 
of non-compliance with some of the control processes 
may put some of the objectives at risk. 

Limited 
Assurance: 

Weaknesses in the system of internal control are such as 
to put the  objectives at risk; and/or the level of non-
compliance puts the  objectives at risk. 

Nil Assurance: 

Control processes are generally weak, leaving the 
processes/systems open to significant error or abuse; 
and/or 
Significant non-compliance with basic control 
processes/systems open to error or abuse. 

 
4. Since the last report to Committee, two audits have been completed:  

 

Department Audit Assurance Opinion 

Children’s 
Services 

Direct Payments Satisfactory 

Environment Modern Slavery Strategy Substantial 

Internal Audit Opinion 
 

5. Although no overall assurance opinion can be given at this stage, the S151 
Officer and the Committee can be assured that sufficient internal audit work is 
in progress to ensure an appropriate assurance opinion can be provided by 
the end of the financial year.   
 

6. Appendix 1 shows the finalised audits as at the end of October 2023 and the 
status of the remaining planned audits is shown in Appendix 2. 
 
Follow ups 
 

7. A total of 69 recommendations have been followed up in the year to date.  
Implementation of medium and high priority recommendations has been 
consistently effective with 82% of medium and high priority recommendations 
fully implemented with a further 7% partly implemented. One recommendation 
was no longer applicable and four recommendations have yet to be 
implemented.  Further follow up will be undertaken on the recommendations 
partly or not yet implemented.   

Page 134



 

4 

Consultation 
 

8. The report has been subject to consultation with the Strategic Leadership 
Team.   
 
Legal Implications 
 

9. Regulation 3 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 sets out the 
Council’s responsibility for ensuring that it has a sound system of internal 
control which:  
 
a. facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and the achievement of 

its aims and objectives;  
b. ensures that the financial and operational management of the authority 

is effective; and,  
c. includes effective arrangements for the management of risk.  

 
10. Regulation 5 requires the Council to ensure that it undertakes an effective 

internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control, 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  
 

11. There are no particular legal implications arising from this report. 

Implications verified by Grant Deg, Assistant Director, Legal Services on 06 
November 2023.   
 
Financial Implications 
 

12. The Internal Audit Plan for 2023/24 will be delivered within the approved 
revenue budget for the service.  Actions required as a result of audit work, 
and any associated costs, are the responsibility of the service managers and 
directors responsible for the areas which are reviewed. 
 

13. Any resource implications from the implementation of the recommendations 
by services will have to be contained within the relevant Directorate approved 
budgets.   
 
Implications verified by Sukvinder Kalsi, Director of Finance on 30 October 
2023 
 
Risk Management 
 

14. The Internal Audit Plan is developed and delivered to cover the key risks 
faced by the Council, to provide assurance on the key controls in operation 
and the effective management of key risks.  
 
Implications verified by Moira Mackie, Head of Internal Audit on 26 October 
2023. 
 

List of Appendices: 
Appendix 1  Summary of Audit Reports finalised as at end of October 2023 

Page 135



 

5 

Appendix 2  Audit Plan 2023-24 Status Report  

Page 136



APPENDIX 1 
Internal Audit – Finalised Audits  

2023/24 

6 

 
 

Plan Area Auditable Area Issued Assurance 
level given 

High Priority 
Recs 

Medium 
Priority 

Recs 

Low Priority 

Recs 

Reported 
to 

Committee 

Children’s 
Services 

Direct Payments  Oct-23 Satisfactory 0 4 4 Nov-23 

Environment Modern Slavery Strategy (2022/23) Jun-23 Substantial 0 0 0 Nov-23 

 
 
Definitions of Recommendations: 

Priority Description 

High 
(Fundamental) 

Recommendations represent fundamental control weaknesses, which expose the organisation to a high degree of unnecessary risk. 

Medium 
(Significant) 

Recommendations represent significant control weaknesses which expose the organisation to a moderate degree of unnecessary risk. 

Low 
(Housekeeping)  

Recommendations show areas where we have highlighted opportunities to implement a good or better practice, to improve efficiency or 
further reduce exposure to risk. 

 

P
age 137



APPENDIX 2 
AUDIT PLAN 2023/24 STATUS REPORT 

7 

The Plan is reviewed and updated following discussions with Directors, taking into account changing risks and priorities.  The status 
of audits in the current Plan is shown below: 

Plan Area Draft Report Issued  In Progress/ Due to Start Not yet Due Deferred 

Cross-cutting  Contract Monitoring 

(May-23) 

  Gifts & Hospitality (staff) – 

new system ongoing 

 Declarations of Interest 

(TBC) 

 Risk Management (defer to 
2024/25) 

Finance   Pensions Administration: Cyclical 

Review  

 VAT 

 Partnerships (TBC)  

Corporate 
Services 

  Digital: New Acquisitions (Q2)  Digital: Cyber Resilience 

(Possible addition Q3) 

 Digital: Disaster Recovery 

(Q3) 

 Digital: Local Business 

Continuity Planning (TBC) 

 People & Talent: Right to 

Work (TBC) 

 People & Talent: DBS 

Checks (TBC) 

 People & Talent: On-line Appraisal 

System – Consider in 2024/25 as too 

early to review in 2023/24. 

 Digital: Revs & Bens Application 

(defer from 2023/24 other priorities) 

Children’s 
Services 

 

 New Placements Team 
(Mar 2023) 

 

 Supporting People Claims (on-

going) 

 Adoption Services (Q2) 

 Children’s & Finance – 
Business Support 
(Advisory) (TBC) 

 Shared Service 
Governance (TBC) 

 Fostering -  Implementation 
of Case Management 
System (TBC) 

 Safeguarding (Q3) 

 Early Years (Q4) 

 

P
age 138



APPENDIX 2 
AUDIT PLAN 2023/24 STATUS REPORT 

8 

Plan Area Draft Report Issued  In Progress/ Due to Start Not yet Due Deferred 

Schools  Randolph Beresford 
Nursery (Oct-23) 

  Kenmont Primary (Q4) 

 Cambridge School (Q4) 

 

Social Care & 
Public Health 

 Disabled Facilities Grants 

(Mar-23) 

 CQC Risk Management (ongoing) 

 Public Health: Drug and Alcohol 

Service (Q3) 

 Out of Borough Placements 
(Q3) 

 Compliments & Complaints 
(Q3) 

 Day Care (TBC) 

 MH Services (replaced with review of 
Out of Borough Placements) 

 Performance Management & 
Governance (info on deep dives to 
be provided) 

 Home Care (new contract defer to 
2024/25) 

Economy   Housing Voids 

 Facilities Management 

 Leaseholder Charges – 
Project Review (Q3) 

 Leaseholder Charges (debt 
management) (Q4) 

 Housing Allocations (Q3) 

 Building Safety Act(TBC) 

 Health and Safety Inc Fire 
Safety (TBC) 

 Procuring Energy (TBC) 

 Planning / Building Control 
(TBC) 

 

Environment  Anti-Social Behaviour 

(Sep-23) 

 Climate Change (Nov-

23) 

 NNDR (Q2) 

 Council Tax (Q2) 

 Housing Benefits (Q2) 

 Licensing (Q3) 

 Trading Standards (Q4) 

 

 
 

P
age 139



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to:  Audit Committee 
 
Date:  27/11/2023 
 
Subject: Corporate Anti-Fraud Service Half-Year Report – 1 April 2023 to 30 

September 2023 
 
Report of:  David Hughes, Shared Services Director for Audit, Fraud, Risk and 

Insurance 
 
Responsible Director: Director for Audit, Fraud, Risk and Insurance 
 

 
Summary 
 
The Council takes its responsibilities to protect the public purse very seriously and is 
committed to protecting the public funds it administers. This report provides an 
account of fraud-related activity during the first half of the financial year to minimise 
the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption occurring within and against the Council. 
 
Work is undertaken by the Corporate Anti-Fraud Service (CAFS), providing a 
complete, professional counter-fraud and investigation service for fraud attempted or 
committed against the Council and reinforces the Council’s commitment to 
preventing, detecting and deterring fraud and corruption.  
  
For the period 1 April 2023 and 30 September 2023, the Council identified 235 
positive outcomes. The fraud identified has a notional value of over £680,000. 
 

 
Recommendation 
 

1. For the Committee to note and comment on the report. 
 

 
Wards Affected: None 
 
Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F 

Priorities  
Building shared prosperity CAFS undertakes several proactive (preventative) and 

reactive (investigations) work across a wide range of 
Council services. Preventing and detecting fraud, and 
recovering money and assets obtained through fraud, 
protects vital frontline services for residents. 

 
Creating a compassionate council 

 

CAFS undertake both proactive (preventative) and reactive 
(investigations) counter-fraud activity across a wide range 
of Council services. Preventing and detecting fraud, and 
recovering money and assets obtained through fraud, 
protects vital frontline services which support vulnerable 

Page 140

Agenda Item 10



residents. 

 
Doing things with local residents, not 
to them 

 

CAFS engages with local residents and provides multiple 
reporting channels so that concerns about fraud against the 
Council can be reported and investigated.   

 

Being ruthlessly financially efficient 

 

CAFS supports the Council in its statutory obligation under 
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 to ensure 
the protection of public funds and to have an effective 
system of preventing and detecting fraud and corruption. 

 
Taking pride in H&F 

 

CAFS works closely with a wide range of services to build 
fraud prevention into its processes. The service promotes 
its work, particularly successful outcomes achieved, 
demonstrating the Borough's commitment to tackling fraud. 

 
Rising to the challenge of the climate 
and ecological emergency 
 
 

CAFS seeks to ensure that the service supports the 
Council’s aims and objectives around climate change and 
carbon reduction. 

 

Contact Officer(s): 

Name:  Andy Hyatt 
Position: Head of Fraud 
Telephone: 020 7361 2777 
Email:  andy.hyatt@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 

None 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1. This report provides an account of fraud-related activity undertaken by the 

Corporate Anti-Fraud Service (CAFS) from 1 April 2023 to 30 September 
2023 to minimise the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption occurring within and 
against the Council. 
 

1.2. CAFS remains a shared service providing the Council with a complete, 
professional counter-fraud and investigation service for fraud attempted or 
committed against the Authority. 
 

1.3. The report also details activity and performance against the Council's Anti-
Fraud and Corruption Strategy to assess its effectiveness, highlights some of 
the current and emerging areas of fraud risk and provides an overview of the 
effectiveness of the Council's arrangements to minimise the risk of fraud. 
 

1.4. Between 1 April 2023 and 30 September 2023, CAFS investigated 522 cases, 
including 78 new referrals, 211 Nation Fraud Initiative matches and concluded 
269 investigations. A conclusion ranges from a successful prosecution, 

Page 141



through prevention activity to action that deters fraud or no further action 
where there is no case to answer.  
 

1.5. The table below shows this activity and details the fraud types.  
 

Activity Cases Fraud types Closed Live  
Live cases as of 01/04/23 233 Tenancy & Housing cases 55 174 

New referrals received 78 Internal Staff  4 12 
NFI positive matches 211 NFI 190 21 
Closed investigations 
(Positive outcome 235) 

269 High/Medium risk fraud 16 19 
Low-risk fraud  3 7 

Live cases as at 30/09/23 253 POCA 1 20 

 
1.6. Between 1 April 2023 and 30 September 2023, the Council identified 235 

positive outcomes. The fraud identified has a notional value of over £680,000, 
detailed in the following table. In comparison, notional values for the previous 
two half-years outturns were £443,000 and £331,000 respectively. 

 

 
1.7. Notional values estimate the financial savings from counter-fraud work and 

reinforce the importance of tackling fraud head-on, particularly when every 
penny should be invested in delivering high-quality services to local people. 
 

1.8. These values provide a good indicator of the financial benefits of counter-
fraud work. In some instances, this will include savings attributed to 
preventative measures. However, not all the cause-and-effect of fraud can be 
financially valued, for example: 

 
 Disruption to service delivery, 
 Reputation damage and loss of public trust, 
 Negative impact on the organisational culture, especially significant 

effect on staff morale, recruitment, and retention, or 
 Damage to relationships with partners and stakeholders 

  

Activity Fraud 
proved. 

 

Notional 
Values 
(£’s) 

Housing application fraud (incl. tenancy correction)  10 39,264 

Right to Buy 11 160,050 

Advisory Reports (pro-active) - - 

Prevention subtotal 21 199,314 

Tenancy Fraud (Council and Registered Providers) 12 238,205 

Internal Staff  2 10,000 

Business Grants and Interruption Fund (COVID support)   

High/Medium risk fraud (e.g. NNDR, Parking, Social Care) 8 12,458 

Low-risk fraud (e.g. Freedom passes, Council Tax, SPD) 1 357 

Detection subtotal 23 261,020 

Proceeds of Crime (POCA) 1 19,710 

Deterrence subtotal 1 19,710 

National Fraud Initiative (Welfare benefit & CT cases)  190 201,056 

 Total 235 681,100 

Page 142



1.9 Details of noteworthy cases are reported in Appendix 1. 
 
2. WHISTLEBLOWING 
 
2.1 The Council's whistleblowing policy continues to be the primary support route 

for staff reporting concerns.   
 

2.2 Since April 2023, CAFS has received no new fraud referrals via the Council’s 
whistleblowing policy. However, CAFS has supported colleagues in the 
Economy Department who received a Health and Safety referral currently 
under review. 
 

2.3 Although the volume of whistleblowing is not high, the Council's 
whistleblowing policy provides an essential safeguard for those who speak 
out. It is an important strand of the Council's overall approach to risk 
management and protection against fraud. 

 
3. ANTI-FRAUD AND CORRUPTION STRATEGY 
 
3.1 The Council's Anti-Fraud & Corruption Strategy covering 2020/23 is based on 

five key themes: i) GOVERN, ii) ACKNOWLEDGE, iii) PREVENT, iv) 
PURSUE and v) PROTECT. 

 
3.2 The Strategy, due for renewal at the end of this financial year, continues to 

drive the Council's fraud resilience and demonstrate its protection and 
stewardship of public funds.  
 

3.3 This report is structured to demonstrate how work undertaken by the fraud 
service aligns and underpins these themes. 
 
i) GOVERN 

 
A robust framework of procedures and policies 

 
3.4 This strategy element focuses on those charged with Governance and 

ensuring they support the counter-fraud activities by ensuring anti-fraud, 
bribery and corruption measures are embedded throughout the organisation.  

 
3.5 To this effect, the Council has a robust framework of procedures and policies 

that supports the prevention, detection, and response to fraud within the 
Council. They promote a culture of transparency, accountability, and 
compliance, essential elements of an effective anti-fraud strategy. 
 

3.6 The framework also deters potential fraudsters, demonstrating that there are 
established rules and consequences for fraudulent actions. They also provide 
clarity and consistency for the organisation, which reduces ambiguity and 
helps prevent unintentional or opportunistic fraud. 
 

Page 143



3.7 Policies and procedures also serve as a foundation for training programs. 
Employees must understand what constitutes fraud and how to prevent it, 
facilitated by well-documented guidelines. 
 

3.8 CAFS regularly review and update anti-fraud policies to support and guide 
Council staff, ensure compliance with laws and regulations, and reflect 
evolving fraud threats and changing business conditions. Any material 
changes are presented to the Audit Committee for review and approval. 
 
ii) ACKNOWLEDGE 

 
4.1 The Strategy denotes that the Council needs to understand fraud risks and 

then demonstrate this by committing the proper support and appropriate 
resources for tackling fraud. 

 
Committing support and resources to tackle fraud 

 
4.2 A vital element of a counter-fraud strategy is the ability of an organisation to 

call upon competent, professionally trained officers to investigate suspected 
fraud. 
 

4.3 All CAFS investigators are members of the Government Counter Fraud 
Profession (GCFP), which provides a professional structure with common 
standards and competencies for those in counter-fraud roles. 
 

4.4 By identifying risks, CAFS ensure that resources have also been focused in 
key areas, as demonstrated by the work on tackling tenancy fraud. It has 
ensured that the Council has successfully recovered 12 units that can now be 
allocated to those in genuine need of assistance. 
 
Fraud awareness training 
 

4.5 Corporate Anti-Fraud Service (CAFS) delivered a Fraud Awareness training 
session to eight Tri-Borough Internal Audit Team members. The training 
included examples of fraud recently occurring at schools across the Borough, 
providing insight into potential fraud indicators. 

 
4.6 Fraud awareness training is crucial for auditors, who play a vital role in 

detecting and preventing fraud. By receiving training on various types of fraud 
schemes, red flags, and investigative techniques, auditors can enhance their 
ability to identify potentially fraudulent activities during the audit process. 

 
4.7 It equips auditors with the knowledge of common fraud risks and the 

techniques used to manipulate processes or circumvent controls. This 
knowledge helps auditors assess the adequacy of anti-fraud controls and 
make informed judgments about risks. 
 

4.8 Furthermore, fraud awareness training enables auditors to understand the 
psychology behind fraudulent behaviour, including motives and 
rationalisations. This understanding helps auditors identify potential 

Page 144



vulnerabilities in culture or control environment that may contribute to 
fraudulent activities. 
 

4.9 The sessions have helped auditors enhance their effectiveness in detecting 
and preventing fraud, ensuring they maintain professional scepticism, which is 
critical to their role.  

 
Demonstrating that it has a robust anti-fraud response 

 
4.10 Counter-fraud activity is reported to the Audit Committee twice yearly, 

detailing performance and action in line with the Anti-Fraud and Corruption 
Strategy.  
 

4.11 CAFS reports on investigation outcomes, including successful detections, 
prevention activity, actions that deter fraud, or no further action where 
assurance is obtained that there is no case to answer.   

 
iii) PREVENT 

 
5.1 The "Prevent" element of the Strategy focuses on detection and prevention 

activities, a significant part of CAFS work. It highlights the importance of 
enhancing anti-fraud controls and processes. CAFS continues to provide anti-
fraud advice and support across the organisation, including the Council's 
partners and contractors.  

 
5.2 CAFS reminds staff and management of their responsibilities to prevent fraud 

and corruption and raises awareness through training that highlights fraud's 
risks and the consequences on the Council and the wider community. 
 

5.3 CAFS offer bespoke fraud awareness training that helps employees better 
connect the training messages to their daily responsibilities. It also helps staff 
identify suspicious activity and feel empowered to act against potential fraud. 
 

Corporate Investigations 
 
5.4 Corporate investigations cover a wide range of different counter-fraud 

activities. The work in this area is varied and extends beyond counter-fraud 
investigations to incorporate activities contributing to the organisation's 
assurance framework.  
 

5.5 Since 1 April 2023, corporate investigation work has included: 
 
Voters Register Vigilant Electoral Services officers became suspicious of several new 

applications to register from individuals with the same surname, similar 
forenames, and very similar date of birth for three different addresses in the 
Borough. Additionally, each application failed the identity verification checks 
conducted by Electoral Services, and they were asked to provide further proof of 
identity and addresses per the process. Two failed to reply, but four provided 
images of UK driving licenses and gas bills, passed to CAFS to investigate 
further. 
 
CAFS's initial review suggested the documents were false, and various checks 

Page 145



against the residential addresses, including sophisticated IP address 
authentication and mobile phone checking, showed that none of the applicants 
were residents. Furthermore, CAFS checks revealed that four of the driving 
licenses were forgeries. 
 
The cases were referred to the Police, although it is unlikely anyone will be 
traced because the applicants were deemed fictitious. It was suspected that the 
purpose of the attempted false registration was to enable identities to be created 
linked to residential addresses to facilitate a longer-term intention to commit 
fraud against financial institutions such as banks and credit card companies. 
 
However, the vigilance of officers, robust verification controls, and the 
subsequent investigation work have all combined to ensure the false 
applications were identified and rejected, maintaining the integrity of the register. 

 
Employee Fraud  A member of the public raised a concern with the Council that they had observed 

an LBHF liveried maintenance van parked on the drive of a house in Ealing and 
the operative working on the property. 
 
The information, including vehicle registration, enabled Client Repairs to identify 
who the van was allocated to. The area supervisor was tasked with going to 
Ealing. Once there, he found one of his operatives undertaking private work at 
the Ealing address.  
 
Once his actions were uncovered, the maintenance operative took sickness 
leave before suspension could be considered.  
 
CAFS was commissioned to investigate further and found five different 
addresses outside the Borough where the van had driven to during daytime 
hours when the operative was meant to be working in LBHF. However, before 
the investigation could be concluded, the operative resigned while CAFS was 
still gathering further evidence for the disciplinary process. 
 
When potential misconduct occurs, the Council will always consider whether 
disciplinary action should proceed regardless of a resignation. In this instance, 
the cost of further investigations and the impact on senior officers hearing the 
case meant it was not in the public interest to proceed, and the resignation was 
accepted. 

 
Agency worker Human resources were informed of a potential employee fraud when a team 

manager brought a concern about an agency worker to their attention.  
 
The temporary employee joined the Council through an agency in August. The 
manager soon became alert to rumours that this person was also working 
elsewhere. The manager raised the alarm with human resources, who asked 
CAFS to investigate. 
 
Their subsequent enquiries revealed that the employee was also undertaking 
agency work with another London council, where they had worked since March 
2023. However, this employment was not disclosed to LBHF when they joined 
us. 
 
The team manager undertook a fact-finding interview with the employee per the 
Council’s policy, but the employee terminated their position with immediate 
effect. 

 
Social Housing 
Decarbonisation 
Fund 
 

The Council successfully secured grant funding through the Social Housing 
Decarbonisation Fund, per our Net Zero Carbon goals.  
 
As part of the grant acceptance process, the Area Regeneration Team were 

Page 146



required to submit a Fraud Risk assessment, which CAFS helped to complete. 
 
The grant will help to fund the retrofit works on 385 Council-owned and 85 
leasehold properties. These retrofit works aim to improve resident comfort by 
creating warmer homes, combat the cost-of-living crisis by reducing energy bills, 
and join the efforts against climate change by reducing carbon emissions.  
 
CAFS identified and described the controls which mitigated the risk they had 
identified, recording how the controls mitigate the risk, and detailing any 
limitations of the mitigation. 
 
Many of the fraud risks suggested by the Department for Business, Energy and 
Industry Strategy (BEIS) had been mitigated due to the planning process. 
However, for completeness, these were recorded, reviewed and risk assessed. 
 

 
 

Housing/Tenancy Fraud  
 
5.6 Given the desperate shortage of affordable homes, demand for social housing 

continues to grow. It is an asset to the public and often a lifeline to the people 
it's meant for. Finding and stopping social housing fraud can rapidly reduce 
homelessness and poverty among families living in rented properties. 
 

5.7 CAFS provides an investigative service to all aspects of housing, including 
requests for the succession or assignment of tenancies, allegations of 
subletting or other forms of tenancy breaches, and right-to-buy applications. 
 

5.8 Between 1 April 2023 and 30 September 2023, CAFS successfully recovered 
12 properties which were being misused. These have now been allocated or 
made available to those in genuine need of housing support within the 
community.  
 

5.9 Where investigative actions result in the return of keys and vacant 
possession, the Council can obtain control without requiring lengthy and costly 
legal action, ensuring properties are promptly reallocated.   
 

5.10 Full details of the successful investigation activity regarding social housing are 
detailed below: 
 

Landlord  Location Postcode 
Size 

(bedrooms) 
Reason for 
recovery 

Outcome 

Council Fulham Court SW6  1 Abandonment Keys returned 

Council  Sulivan Court SW6 3 Abandonment Court Possession 

Council St Stephen's Avenue W12 2 Abandonment Keys returned 

Council Lugard House  W12 1 Subletting Keys returned 

Council Crefeld Close W6  1 Abandonment Keys returned 

Council  Benbow Court  W6  2 Abandonment Court Possession 

Council Stanlake Road W12  1 Abandonment Keys returned 

Council Barton Road W14  1 Abandonment Keys returned 

Council Minford Gardens W14  4 Subletting Keys returned 

Council Champlain House W12  2 False succession Court Possession 

Council Exhibition Close  W12  4 False succession Court Possession 

Council Poynter House W11  1 Abandonment Court Possession 

Page 147



 
5.11 Details of noteworthy cases are reported in Appendix 1. 

 
 
 
 

Right to Buy  

 
5.12 CAFS support the right-to-buy process within prevention activities that check 

and review new applications. CAFS has devised a due diligence process that 
challenges tenants through a series of questions to ensure they fulfil the right-
to-buy criteria.   

 
5.13 Questions include confirmation of all individuals participating in the right-to-

buy transaction, including financing the purchase. This information is required 
to ensure all parties reside at the property. On occasions, visits are required to 
verify the details provided and household compositions. 
 

5.14 The right-to-buy checks are conducted to maintain the integrity and probity of 
the scheme. However, since 1 April 2023, this prevention process has led to 
the cancellation of eleven applications, including recovering a property when 
the checks identified a potential right-to-buy address being unlawfully sublet. 
 

5.15 Details of noteworthy cases are reported in Appendix 1. 

 
iv)  PURSUE 
 

6.1 Stopping fraud and corruption from happening in the first place must be our 
primary aim. However, those who keep on trying may still succeed. It is, 
therefore, essential that a robust enforcement response is available to pursue 
fraudsters and deter others.  

 
Collaborating across departmental, geographical and sectoral 
boundaries 
 

6.2 Collaboration is one of the critical themes under the "Pursue" strategic 
objective. Local authorities can tackle fraud locally and across geographical 
boundaries by collaborating effectively. 

 
6.3 CAFS continue to actively maintain the authorities’ membership of the 

National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) and the London Borough of Fraud 
Investigators Group (LBFIG), with officers from CAFS sitting on the Executive 
Board of both bodies.  

 
National Fraud Initiative  
 

6.4 A vital component of the anti-fraud and corruption strategy is making better 
use of information and technology. To this effect, the Council participates in 
the biennial National Fraud Initiative (NFI), an electronic data-matching 
exercise coordinated by the Cabinet Office. 

Page 148



 
6.5 Over 1,200 public and private sector organisations participate in the NFI, 

including councils, the Police, hospitals, and nearly 100 private companies, all 
helping to identify potentially fraudulent claims and errors. The latest 
outcomes for the 2022/2023 NFI matching exercise are detailed below. 
 

6.6 The 2022/2023 NFI exercise began with data collection in September 2022, 
followed by matches in March 2023. To date, the Council has scrutinised and 
closed over 360 matches. Outcomes to date are detailed below. 
 

Matches Fraud/Error Amounts 

Council Tenancy – non-residency CAFS investigation 1 £13,115 

Common Housing Register – removed following CAFS investigation 9 £34,764 

Housing Benefits – overpayments recorded by DWP 8 £75,690 

Council Tax Replacement Scheme – change in circumstances 4 £5,838 

Council Tax – SPD removed & adult non-deps 178 £119,528 

 200 £248,935 

 
V) PROTECT 

 
Protecting the Authority and its' residents from fraud 

 
7.1 This aspect of the Strategy covers counter-fraud activity to protect public 

funds, residents and the community from fraud and the Council from future 
scams. 

 
7.2 In support of this, CAFS continue to provide an investigative capability for key 

stakeholders across the Borough. This is no more important than working with 
local housing associations to protect their stock from fraudulent misuse, 
ensuring affordable housing is available to those in the community who need 
it.  

 
7.3 CAFS also remain an active National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) member. 

NAFN disseminate national fraud alerts, which are circulated by CAFS, to the 
appropriate departments. The early warning about possible future scams 
helps to ensure that CAFS can protect the Council against new and emerging 
fraud risks. 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
8.1 The report has been subject to consultation with the Strategic Leadership 

Team. 
 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no equality implications arising from this report. 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 A range of legislation governs the work of CAFS, including the Police and 

Criminal Evidence Act, the Criminal Procedures Investigation Act, the 

Page 149



Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act, the Fraud Act, the Prevention of 
Social Housing Fraud Act, the Proceeds of Crime Act, and Data Protect Act.   

 
10.2 There are no particular legal implications arising from this report. 

 
Implications verified by Grant Deg, Assistant Director, Legal Services on 8 
November 2023.   

 
FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 Resources required to deliver on the Council's Counter-Fraud Strategy are 

funded from the budget allocated to the Corporate Anti-fraud Service. 
There are no additional resource implications arising from this report. 
Successful investigations and prosecutions can lead to the recovery of 
Council assets and money required to protect frontline services. 

 
Implications verified by Sukvinder Kalsi, Director of Finance, on 8 November 2023.   
 
RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
12.1 The delivery of the counter-fraud strategy and associated policies contribute 

to the management of fraud risks faced by the Council, with proactive 
exercises supporting managers to put effective counter-fraud and corruption 
controls in place in their systems and processes. 

 
Implications verified by Jules Binney, Risk and Assurance Manager, on 8 November 
2023. 
 
 
 
List of Appendices:   
 
Appendix 1 – Counter-fraud notable cases. 

Page 150



APPENDIX 1 
 Case Description 
 

1. 
 
RIGHT TO BUY & TENANCY FRAUD – In October 2002, the Council accepted a homeless application from a man claiming to be a Kosovan 
national, and he was accepted as having priority needs for housing. The following year, he was granted a secure tenancy in a one-bedroom flat in 
Fulham Court, Fulham Road, SW6.  
 
Unbeknown to the Council, his leave to remain in the UK expired, his subsequent appeal was refused, and in 2008, he was deported, leaving his 
Fulham Court property. He should have informed the Council that he could no longer live in the UK. Instead, he continued claiming Housing Benefits 
for the address until October 2010. The individual then re-entered the country in 2013 as an Albanian national and admitted that he had initially 
entered the UK illegally under the guise of a Kosovan national. He was granted entry clearance and returned to the UK to continue his tenancy in 
2014. 
 
During his deportation and re-entry, five years passed, and unknown persons lived there. However, this only came to light when he made a right-to-
buy application. At this point, CAFS investigators conducted due diligence checks, and they began to find a series of discrepancies dating back to 
2008 when he was initially deported.   
 
The investigators discovered he had sub-let and/or parted with possession of the property between 24 July 2008 and 10 October 2012 (during the 
period of his absence from the UK following deportation) without the consent of the Council. However, when he was interviewed under caution, he 
denied the allegations even though CAFS had gathered weight of evidence to show that several unknown individuals were listed on the utility bills, 
voter registration details, bank records and mobile phone data, all at the Fulham Court address. 
 
Shortly after the interview, the right-to-buy application was withdrawn, and after that, the keys were returned, and vacant possession was gained. A 
referral was made to DWP regarding benefit fraud, but on the barrister's advice, CAFS did not pursue criminal charges. However, the investigation 
had stopped tenancy fraud; it recovered a one-bedroom property and prevented a potential fraudulent right to buy. 
 

 
2. 

 
ABANDONMENT: This case arose from the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) data-matching exercise, which helps public sector organisations identify 
and prevent fraudulent activity. The NFI uses analytic techniques to compare data from different public bodies to identify anomalies that might 
suggest fraud or error. In this instance, the match suggested that the tenant of a one-bedroom flat in Barton Road, Baron’s Court W14, was not 
resident but instead living in Fulham, just off Dawes Road, where she received DWP benefits. 
 
The tenant was visited at the Fulham address, where investigators questioned her and confirmed she had been living with her brother for the last six 
months. She admitted that she had no intention to return to the tenancy address and agreed to terminate her tenancy forthwith. She signed a 
statement confirming the above, completed a vacation notice and handed over keys to the property, which was brought back into the Council’s 
possession in June 2023. 
 
 

P
age 151



 

 
3. 

 
SUCCESSION: The tenant of a three-bedroom flat in Sullivan Court, SW6, passed away, and her son applied for succession. 
 
Succession is a legal term used when a person takes over a tenancy when the tenant dies and relates to the statutory right of certain people to 
succeed in the tenancy. Sometimes, a qualifying family member can succeed if residing with the late tenant for 12 months before death. 
 
Details in the succession application contradicted a file note on the council tax account from the tenant’s daughter advising that the property was 
empty and due to be returned to the Council. Her message was dated June, but a later note from the son, in October, advises that he was caring for 
the tenant and was staying at the property. 
 
Checks on the son revealed overseas travel to France. They showed him out of the country for most of the 12-month qualifying period before the 
death of his mother. Therefore, the applicant was interviewed and denied being out of the country. He provided documentation, including bank 
statements from a French bank and a letter to Lloyds bank inviting him to confirm where he lived for tax purposes. This suggested they had records 
of him living overseas. 
 
The interview was ended, but a complete review of the documents he provided raised additional questions, and a letter asking for further details was 
sent. In reply, he called the investigator and confessed to being in France for the qualifying period. In a subsequent interview, he accepted that he 
does not qualify for succession. The tenancy was terminated, and the Council recovered a valuable three-bedroom property. 
 

 
4. 

 
SUBLETTING: A housing officer covering the W12 area raised concerns about the illegal subletting of a Council property in Lugard House, 
Bloemfontein Road. 
 
CAFS's initial review of the allegation included finance checking, which linked the tenant to various addresses in Kent. In contrast, a study of Council 
data suggested that both the council tax bills and rent for the address were being paid by an unknown third party from a NatWest bank account. This 
same account was also responsible for paying utilities and the TV license. 
 
As the investigation progressed, the unknown third party was revealed to be the tenant's sister, the accounts in her married name. 
 
Using powers under the Proceeds of Crime Act, the investigator made more in-depth enquiries into the tenant's finances and found he had a Halifax 
Bank account, and the transactions on this account suggested the tenant was spending most of his time in Kent and rarely in west London.  
 
The tenant was invited to attend an interview, which he did with his sister. However, he refused to engage with officers even when he was shown the 
evidence. His sister tried to interject, but officers explained that the tenant needed to answer the questions. At the end of this no-comment interview, 
the investigators asked if they could go to the property for an inspection, but he finally answered them and refused. 
 
The officer began compiling court papers when, a few days after the interview, the tenant returned the keys to this one-bedroom property without any 
notification, giving vacant possession back to the Council. 

P
age 152



 

 
5. 

 
SUCCESSION: The Council received a statutory succession application for a four-bedroom property in the White City area. Following the tenant's 
death, her son applied to succeed the tenancy. However, the housing team suspected it was fraudulent because the son was not a resident at the 
tenanted address during the qualifying period.   
 
CAFS commenced enquiries and soon began compiling a case file of evidence contradicting the application. For example, the late tenant had only 
claimed benefits as the sole tenant and received a single-person discount. There was no record of the son on the voters' roll, and further 
interrogation of Council records found correspondence in which the late tenant stated that her son used the address for correspondence, but he did 
not live with her. Further information was gathered, and a complete file was passed to Legal, who commenced repossession action. 
 
The case was heard at Willesden County Court. The defendant failed to attend, and the judge granted the Council outright possession unchallenged, 
which was recovered via bailiffs in July 2023. 
 

 
6. 

 
SUCCESSION: Following the death of a tenant living in a two-bedroom flat in Champlain House, W12, the Council received a succession 
application. However, Housing colleagues were suspicious that the applicant had not been residing at the tenanted address fully during the qualifying 
period and had links to other properties in Sheffield. 
 
Initial enquiries by CAFS corroborated their suspicions, finding several links between the applicant and addresses in Sheffield, including ownership 
of a property there. The information was backed up by Sheffield City Council, who confirmed that the applicant was liable for council tax. 
 
The succession application was refused but appealed, and in a final attempt to convince LBHF, the applicant submitted a copy of an old application 
form for his three children to attend St John XXII Catholic primary school, claiming these children were all living with him and now attending this 
school. However, enquiries with St John XXII Catholic primary school confirmed no trace of the children. Still, additional checks found them all 
attending a primary school in Sheffield.  
 
The Council was granted possession, unchallenged at Willesden County Court, and eviction occurred in July 2023. 

 
 

7. 
 
ABANDONMENT: CAFS were sent a referral following from colleagues in the Gas Safety Team. They had undertaken a forced entry to a property in 
Poynter House, W11 and found that the gas was already capped. It had stayed the same since their last safety inspection, which also required a 
forced entry. 
 
CAFS commenced their enquiries by interrogating Council records and found correspondence from the tenant who claimed they were not always at 
home, spending all day at their elderly father's property. 
 
Additional information suggested the tenant had not lived at the address for some time. This was further confirmed when investigators obtained 
certified evidence of utility usage for the flat, including gas and electricity. The evidence was collated, eviction proceedings commenced, and the 

P
age 153



property was recovered in July 2023. 

 
8. 

 
SUCCESSION: CAFS received a referral from the Housing Team about a succession. The tenant of a two-bedroom flat in Benbow Court, SW6, 
passed away, and her son applied to succeed the tenancy. However, the Housing Team were suspicious of the circumstances when they discovered 
that the tenant died in Grenada, which alluded to her non-residency and a breach of tenancy before her death. 
 
CAFS undertook UK border agency checks, indicating that the late tenant travelled to Grenada and remained there for long periods. This evidenced 
that she spent more time overseas than in the UK. Therefore, it suggested the tenanted address was not a sole and principal home.  
 
The late tenant’s pension was paid into her Barclays bank account, and the transactions did not show everyday transactions associated with 
someone residing in the United Kingdom and using their account regularly.  
 
Enquiries were also made to the Attorney General’s Chambers of the Government of Grenada, and they confirmed her residency in Grenada. 
 
The Council commenced repossession action, culminating in a court hearing in April 2023, where the judge granted a possession order and awarded 
costs.  

 
 

9. 
 
NON-RESIDENCY: CAFS was contacted by immigration colleagues who wanted to enquire about a flat in Sharnbrook House where our tenant was 
alleged to have breached a deportation order. 
 
Immigration provided a photo of the subject’s deportation order and a witness statement. The statement confirmed that the tenant had been deported 
by breached the order by re-entering the UK. His parents may have been living at the Sharnbrook House while our tenant was now living in Banbury, 
Oxfordshire.  
 
Based upon this new information, a Notice to Quit was served on the property, and Legal commenced repossession action. However, while awaiting 
a court hearing, the subject was arrested and charged by Thames Valley Police, who bailed him to an address in Banbury, Oxfordshire, reaffirming 
our case against the tenant’s non-residency. The local Council also confirmed he was liable for Council Tax at the Banbury address. 
 
At trial, immigration officers were in attendance. This may have influenced the individual’s decision to instruct his solicitors to accept a possession 
order, unchallenged, and vacate the tenancy address. 
 
The tenant was not seen in court during the court hearing, but the property has now been returned to the Council’s possession. 

 
 

 

P
age 154



 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Report to: Audit Committee 
 
Date:  27/11/2023 
 
Subject: Audit Fees 2023/24 
 
Report author: Christopher Harris - Head of Corporate Accountancy, Finance 

Systems and Tax)    
 
Responsible Director: Sukvinder Kalsi, Director of Finance  
 

 

SUMMARY 
 

This report provides an update on the external audit fees for 2023/24 as set by 
Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) and the Council’s response to the recent 
consultation on the proposed framework for fees. 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

1. To note the update on the external audit fees as set by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments (PSAA) and the Council’s response to the recent fee consultation. 
(Appendix 1). 
 

 

 

Wards Affected: All  
 
 

H&F Values 
 
Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F Values  
 Being ruthlessly 

financially 
efficient 

As part of the financial governance of the Council, and to 
ensure the Council is using its resources effectively, there 
is a need to appoint a suitable external auditor. 

 

Financial Impact 
 
The approved budgets for 2023/24 include provision for the new proposed fees (this 
is estimated at between £0.45m to £0.5m) and needs to be considered in the context 
of our overall resources and our complexities as a local authority (including Pension 
Fund). 
 
 
 
 

Page 155

Agenda Item 11



 

 

Legal Implications 
  
There are no direct legal implications in relation to this report.  
 
Section 17 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 gives the Secretary of 
State the power to make regulations in relation to an ‘appointing person’ specified by 
the Secretary of State. This power has been exercised in the Local Audit (Appointing 
Person) Regulations 2015 and gives the Secretary of State the ability to enable a 
Sector Led Body to become the appointing person. In July 2016 the Secretary of 
State specified PSAA as the appointing person.   
 
The Regulations set out the procedure that must be followed for setting the fee scale 
for audit of accounts (reg 16) before the start of the financial year to which the scale 
of fees relates including consulting opted in authorities and the scale of fees may 
take account of the costs or expenses and anticipated costs and expenses.  This 
report sets out that process of consultation. 
 

 
Contact Officer(s): 
Name: Christopher Harris 
Position: Head of Corporate Accountancy, Systems and Tax 
Telephone: 020 8753 6440 
Email: Christopher.Harris@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Name: Angela Hogan 
Position: Chief Solicitor (Contracts and Procurement) 
Telephone: 07919227585 
Email: angela.hogan@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
None 
 

PSAA Audit Fee Consultation 

 
1. It was reported to Audit Committee in November 2022 that Public Sector Audit 

Appointment (PSAA) – being the “appointing person” for local authority external 
audit – had indicated a likely significant increase in the audit fee for the 2023-28 
audit cycle.   
 

2. The scale fee for 2023/24 will be finalised by 30 November but has 
provisionally been indicated to increase by 151% (remaining in line with the 
increase reported to the Audit Committee in November 2022). 

 
3. The PSAA has set out the reasons for this significant increase in the scale fee, 

of which the key reasons are as follows: 
 

 Audit requirements have increased in recent years as a result of: 

Page 156



 

 

 

 changes to audit work required under the Code of Audit Practice 

 updated auditing and financial reporting standards 

 increased regulatory challenge 
 

 Local authority audit is not attracting enough audit suppliers.  This is in line 
with the findings of the 2021 “Redmond Review” and has led to significant 
procurement challenges. 

 
4. The PSAA invited comments on the proposed audit fee increase through a 

recent consultation exercise.  The Council’s repose to this consultation is 
attached at appendix A. 
 
 

 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 

Appendix 1 – PSAA Scale Fee – LB Hammersmith and Fulham Consultation 
response – October 2023 
 
 

Page 157



 

 

 

Hammersmith & Fulham Council 

Town Hall 

Hammersmith 

London, W6 9JU 

Email: Sukvinder.kalsi@lbhf.gov.uk 

Web: www.lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 

 

Tony Crawley  
Chief Executive, PSAA 
Email: workandfeesconsultation@psaa.co.uk 
(via email) 
 
 
 
PSAA Scale Fee – Consultation response – Oct 2023 
 
 
Dear Tony, 
  
You have kindly invited comments from local authorities in respect of the recently 
proposed scale fee increase for PSAA audits for 2023/24.  We have set out below 
comments on behalf of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham.  
  
As you have set out, the scale fee for LB Hammersmith and Fulham is proposed 
to increase by 151% (after adjustments to the prior year fee for new audit 
requirements etc.). This will increase our scale fee from £171k to £430k, excluding 
potential one-off charges of circa £80k based on 2022-23. We understand that this 
increase is substantially driven by the increase in underlying audit fees and that 
this is in keeping with similar authorities. 
  
From a budgetary perspective this significant increase in the scale fee is, naturally, 
disappointing.  As the PSAA will be aware, our sector continues to face significant 
financial challenges and whilst some funding has been indicated by government to 
support local audit, this is both temporary and only covering a fraction of the 
proposed increases.  The proposed increase in the scale fee will, in the main, 
need to be met through compensating savings and reductions in spend in key 
statutory services. 
  
We have taken on board the commentary that the price increase reflects the wider 
problems in the local authority audit market and changes to the regulatory 
landscape.  These problems and changes have been elucidated through the 
Redmond review and we, like many authorities, have experienced them first-hand 
through significant audit delays.  We understand that there is a pressing need to 
fix this and that this, in part, will be governed by commercial realities. 
  
We accept that the pricing is pursuant to a competitive procurement process 
however would counsel that this process can only be as competitive as the 
underlying market in the first place.  In the long-term we would urge the PSAA and 
other relevant bodies to consider ways to address potential market failure in this 
area.  
  
On the basis that the proposed fee increases proceed, we firmly believe that this 
needs to be reflected in improvements to audit resourcing and timeliness and are 

Page 158

mailto:workandfeesconsultation@psaa.co.uk


 

 

 

Hammersmith & Fulham Council 

Town Hall 

Hammersmith 

London, W6 9JU 

Email: Sukvinder.kalsi@lbhf.gov.uk 

Web: www.lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 

pleased that absolute mandatory deadlines for both 2021/22 and 2022/23 are now 
in place (we are working with our auditors to sign off 2022/23 and 2021/22 is 
substantially complete). 
  
We will gladly work with the PSAA in future in trying to secure the objectives that 
we have proposed above. 
  
Yours sincerely, 
  
  
 
  
  
Cllr. Patrick Walsh, 
Chair – Audit Committee 
LB Hammersmith and Fulham 

Sukvinder Kalsi 
Director of Finance 
LB Hammersmith and Fulham 
 

 
 
 

Page 159


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	4 Annual Audit Report (Value for Money) 2021/22 and 2022/23
	Appendix 1 – Interim Annual Auditor’s Report on Hammersmith and Fulham Council 2021/22 and 2022/23
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4: Securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the Council’s use of resources
	Slide 5: Executive summary – Overview
	Slide 6: Executive summary
	Slide 7: Executive summary
	Slide 8: Executive summary
	Slide 9: Key recommendations (KR1)
	Slide 10: Executive Summary
	Slide 11: Executive Summary
	Slide 12: Executive Summary
	Slide 13: Key recommendation (KR 2)
	Slide 14: Use of auditor's powers
	Slide 15
	Slide 16: Financial sustainability
	Slide 17: Financial sustainability
	Slide 18: Financial sustainability
	Slide 19: Financial sustainability
	Slide 20: Financial sustainability
	Slide 21: Financial sustainability
	Slide 22: Financial sustainability
	Slide 23: Financial sustainability
	Slide 24: Improvement recommendation 1
	Slide 25: Improvement recommendation 2
	Slide 26: Governance
	Slide 27: Governance
	Slide 28: Governance
	Slide 29: Governance
	Slide 30: Governance
	Slide 31: Improvement recommendation 3
	Slide 32: Improvement recommendation 4
	Slide 33: Improvement recommendation 5
	Slide 34: Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness
	Slide 35: Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness
	Slide 36: Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness
	Slide 37: Improvement recommendation 6  
	Slide 38: Improvement recommendation 7
	Slide 39: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 40: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 41: Follow-up of previous recommendations
	Slide 42: Opinion on the financial statements for 2021/22
	Slide 43: Opinion on the financial statements for 2022/23
	Slide 44
	Slide 45: Appendix A – Responsibilities of the local authority
	Slide 46: Appendix B – Risks of significant weaknesses, our procedures and findings 
	Slide 47: Appendix C – An explanatory note on recommendations
	Slide 48: Appendix D – Key sources of evidence
	Slide 49


	5 External Auditor Progress And Sector Update
	Slide 1: London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Audit Progress Report and Sector Update 
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Introduction
	Slide 4: Progress at November 2023
	Slide 5: Audit Deliverables
	Slide 6: Sector Update
	Slide 7: Exploring the reasons for delayed publication of audited local authority accounts in England – Grant Thornton
	Slide 8: Current local audit deadline ‘unachievable’- Grant Thornton
	Slide 9: Current local audit deadline ‘unachievable’- Grant Thornton(cont.)
	Slide 10: DLUHC proposals to clear audit backlog 
	Slide 11: Call for sanctions for late accounts amid fears of ‘more Wokings - public accounts committee (PAC)  
	Slide 12: Around 700,000 children are studying in schools that require major rebuilding or refurbishment works - NAO
	Slide 13: LGPS valuation gives ‘cause for optimism’ – Hymans Robertson 
	Slide 14: Sustainability reporting in the public sector - CIPFA 
	Slide 15: SEND deficits kept off budgets for another three years (Added March 2023)

	6 Treasury Management Strategy: Mid-Year Review 2023/24
	7 Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code Self Assessment
	Appendix A Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code-Self-Assessment

	8 Risk Management Update
	App1 Corporate Risk Register (Oct 2023)

	9 Internal Audit Progress Report (April to October 2023)
	10 Corporate Anti-Fraud Service Half-Year Report  (1 April 2023 to 30 September 2023)
	11 Audit Fees 2023/24
	Appendix 1 – PSAA Scale Fee – LBHF Consultation response – October 2023


